SEPTEMBER 2018

ARE WE MAKING A DIFFERENCEP

Understanding leading practices in youth volunteerism & service.

UNIVERSITY OF



YOUTH & INNOVATION PROJECT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Authors

Ilona Dougherty, Managing Director, Youth & Innovation Project Dr. Amelia Clarke, Principal Investigator, Youth & Innovation Project Miha Alam, Research Assistant, Youth & Innovation Project

Developed for Employment and Social Development Canada with the support of the Government of Canada.

Youth & Innovation Project at the University of Waterloo works to ensure young people, 15 to 25 years old, are meaningfully engaged in finding and implementing solutions to social, environmental and economic problems, and are valued for the contributions they make. We provide business, civil society and government with the strategic and policy insight they need to support intergenerational collaboration.

For more information visit: www.uwaterloo.ca/youthinn

Youth & Innovation Project School of Environment, Enterprise and Development University of Waterloo 200 University Avenue West Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3G1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive summary	Α
Executive summary	4
1.0 Introduction	13
2.0 Methodology	15
3.0 Definitions	19
3.1 Service	19
3.2 Volunteer	20
3.3 Changemaker	22
3.4 Engaged citizen	23
3.5 Positive social and environmental impact	23
4.0 Current context	24
4.1 Healthy youth development	24
4.2 Young people in Canada	27
4.3 Young changemakers & citizens	29
5.0 Young people as changemakers & active citizens	32
5.1 Barriers to engaging young participants	35
5.2 Leading practices in addressing barriers to engaging young participants	39
5.3 Leading practices in engaging youth as changemakers and active citizens	42
6.0 Societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism	48
6.1 Types of societal and environmental impact	49
6.2 Monetary measures of social impact	54
6.3 Leading theories and practices to increase societal and environmental impact	56
7.0 Recommendations & insights	58
8.0 Conclusion	62
9.0 References	63
Photo Credits	71

EXECUTIVE Summary

This literature review provides a current overview of leading practices in youth volunteerism and youth service in Canada and internationally with the aim of identifying trends and recurring themes, as well as barriers, that should be addressed to increase youth engagement in volunteerism and service. Special attention is given to information on how to engage traditionally underrepresented youth, in particular indigenous youth.

It is the intention that the insight and knowledge gained from this research will help to inform the development of policy options for the next phase of the Canada Service Corps in 2019 – a signature program for youth service – as well as equip organizations working in the youth volunteerism and service sector in Canada with the latest knowledge on how they might engage a more diverse cohort of young people, better support the young people they work with and increase their societal and environmental impact. The research questions that guided the development of this report are as follows:

- What does it mean for a young person (age 15 to 30) to be: a volunteer, a youth service participant, a changemaker, an engaged citizen and to have positive societal or environmental impact?
- What are leading theories and/or practices in Canada and internationally that result in more young people becoming changemakers & civically engaged?
- What are the barriers to youth engaging in volunteerism and service in Canada?
- What are the leading theories and/ or practices in youth service and volunteerism in Canada and internationally that result in positive societal and environmental impact?
- What do we know about the social impact (using monetary measures to measure impact) of youth service and volunteerism?

KEY FINDINGS

YOUNG PEOPLE AS CHANGEMAKERS AND ENGAGED CITIZENS

In youth service and volunteerism related grey and academic literature, the lack of standardized evaluations and high quality research that is consistent and methodologically rigorous is repeatedly discussed. Despite this concern, we can draw some conclusions about the impact youth service and volunteerism has on young people's likelihood of staying engaged as changemakers and active citizens.

Barriers to young people not participating in youth service found in the literature are:

- Young people not been asked to participate;
- Structural and financial barriers that young people face;
- Young people encountering ageism, tokenism and civil society organizations failing to meaningfully engage young people perspectives and ideas in the course of volunteer or service programs; and
- For indigenous youth additional barriers include western ideologies of leadership and governance being dominant as a result of colonization, and intergenerational trauma.

Leading practices to address the barriers young people face in participating in youth service and volunteerism found in the literature are:

- When engaging young people, especially those who are less likely to get involved, ask them to get involved rather than expecting them to seek out programs;
- Provide financial or educational incentives to facilitate participation of underrepresented and disengaged young people;
- Address structural barriers by being flexible, offering high touch personalized approaches and ensuring a variety of programs and structures are offered; and
- Address structural barriers by coordinating support between youth service programs and other institutions and organizations that are working with the same young people both while young people are participating in youth service and volunteerism and afterward.

WHEN ENGAGING YOUNG PEOPLE, ESPECIALLY THOSE WHO ARE LESS LIKELY TO GET INVOLVED, ASK THEM TO GET INVOLVED RATHER THAN EXPECTING THEM TO SEEK OUT PROGRAMS

ENSURE RESPECTFUL INTERGENERATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS AND MENTORSHIP ARE PRIORITIZED DURING A VOLUNTEER OR SERVICE EXPERIENCE

EPIC

Leading practices in ensuring youth service programs lead to young people engaging as changemakers and citizens found in the literature are:

- Connecting volunteer or service projects to young people's interests;
- Ensuring the work young people do meets real needs and that young people are given the opportunity to take meaningful action during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring strong community partnerships and engagement, and that young people connect with decision-makers during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring respectful intergenerational partnerships and mentorship are prioritized during a volunteer or service experience;

- Ensuring young people are meaningfully engaged in leadership and decision-making throughout their volunteer or service experience; and
- Ensuring that youth service and volunteerism programs integrate time for reflection and that these conversations are linked to systemic issues and long-term action.

SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL Impact

When it comes to understanding whether or not young service and volunteerism programs lead to positive societal and environmental impacts, concerns about the failure of program evaluation and research to measure societal and environmental outcomes is discussed in the literature. In particular, researchers and evaluators tend to focus on the skills or training a young person receives through an activity or program rather than the impact these programs have on the communities and organizations they are embedded within, as well as society and the environment more broadly.

The impact of youth service and volunteerism that is most frequently evaluated is the impact on young participants themselves, which can be considered a societal impact. Participation in youth service and volunteerism are linked to positive outcomes including improvements in mortality rates, mental health, well-being and physical health, less delinquency, improved academic performance, personal growth, building self-esteem, building social capital, building social trust, developing leadership skills and developing work skills. However, results vary significantly between different programs and the inconsistent nature of how results are measured makes it

difficult to come to conclusions about the benefits young participants derive from participating in youth service writ large.

Research suggests that another societal impact that youth service programs have is fostering tolerance for diversity. Also, youth service programs increase the capacity of the civil society organizations that young people are placed in during their service projects.

Part of the difficulty of measuring the societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism is the sheer variety of the kinds of service activities young people participate in, making measuring generalizable impacts of youth service difficult. For example, the three most popular youth service activities in the American college context range from tutoring young people to volunteering in soup kitchens and homeless shelters to promoting sustainability and environmentalism. A critique of the types of activities that young people tend to participate in is that there is a gap between the systemic issues that youth are interested in and the individual nature of the actions that tend to be a part of their youth service and volunteering experiences.

The few studies that use monetary measures to measure the social impact of youth service and volunteerism found that the benefits of youth service programs outweighed the costs. Leading theories and practices to increase societal and environmental impact found in the literature are:

- Ensuring evaluation and research is more holistic and measures all intended outcomes of youth service and volunteerism, including impact on the organizations and communities the young people are working in, as well as broader societal and environmental impacts;
- Ensuring community initiatives that young people work on during the course of their youth service or volunteerism programs have clear achievable social and environmental goals, that the most effective

strategies for addressing a social or environmental problem are used by community organizations, and that community organizations and youth utilize a systemic approach to change;

- Ensuring intergenerational partnerships and that young people have access to decision-makers through the course of their youth service and volunteerism experiences; and
- Ensuring that young people's unique abilities are recognized and young people's strengths are put at the center of youth service and volunteerism programming.

ENSURE EVALUATION AND RESEARCH IS MORE HOLISTIC AND MEASURES ALL INTENDED OUTCOMES OF YOUTH SERVICE AND VOLUNTEERISM, INCLUDING IMPACT ON THE ORGANIZATIONS AND COMMUNITIES THE YOUNG PEOPLE ARE WORKING IN, AS WELL AS BROADER SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the literature reviewed the following are recommendations for future research and policy design:

Recommendation 1:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider co-creating with young people a research program that focuses on better understanding how to engage young people as active citizens and changemakers, how to increase the social and environmental impact of youth focused programs and how to create a culture of service in Canada. High quality and methodically rigorous research developed through meaningful collaborations with young people, youth-serving organizations and communities should be prioritized. Areas of focus that should be considered as part of this program are:

- Developing methods for measuring the impact youth service programs have on communities and organizations, as well as the societal and environmental impact of these programs;
- Developing methods for measuring the social impact of Canadian youth service programs by monetary measures;
- Conducting research that focuses on cross program comparisons;
- Through collaborations with indigenous youth and researchers, understanding the additional barriers faced by, and realities of, indigenous young people in Canada and how youth service programs might contribute to reconciliation;

- Through collaborations with youth and researchers from underrepresented communities, understanding the additional barriers faced by, and realities of, young people from these communities and how to address them;
- Understanding what particular elements of youth service programs lead to positive outcomes (*Jones & Hill, 2009*), including further investigation of the leading practices outlined in this report;
- Measuring the topics, engagement types, organizational types, strategies (Ho et al., 2015) used by programs and the effectiveness of each in achieving societal and environmental impact; and
- Examining what is unique about the contributions young people make to the societal and environmental outcomes during the course of youth service and volunteerism.

Recommendation 2:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider using evidence based frameworks that promote healthy youth development as part of the Canada Service Corps logic model. For example autonomy, relatedness, competency and purpose driven impact (*Dougherty & Clarke*, 2017a; *Khanna et al.*, 2014) is one such model that should considered.

Recommendation 3:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider ensuring that the Canada Service Corps logic model includes a focus on the positive societal and environmental outcomes, and by extension the impacts of this program on communities and organizations, as well as the impacts of on young participants.

Recommendation 4:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider including a commitment to intergenerational partnerships and the inclusion of youth voice in decision-making as central components of the Canada Service Corps logic model.



Insight 1:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider, given the increasing instability and financial challenges that young Canadians are facing in their day to day lives, examining the feasibility of providing financial or educational incentives to facilitate participation of underrepresented young people in youth service programs. Young people should be consulted as to which incentives would best suit their needs.

Insight 2:

Building on current successful strategies being already being implemented by partners, Employment and Social Development Canada should consider encouraging program partners to continue to innovate their recruitment strategies to ensure that young people, especially those who are less likely to get involved, are asked to get involved by a trusted mentor or peer, ideally in person, rather than expecting these young people to seek out programs.

Insight 3:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider collaborating with adjacent youth focused sectors - including those working on youth employment, in education and encouraging youth entrepreneurship in order to provide coordinating support to young people both while they are participating in youth service and volunteerism and afterward. Other sectors that may also be relevant to collaborate with include settlement agencies, youth in care and mental health.

Insight 4:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider prioritizing the integration of the leading practices outlined in this report that contribute to young people engaging as changemakers and active citizens in the design of the next phase of the Canada Service Corps:

- Connecting volunteer or service projects to young people's interests;
- Ensuring the work young people do meets real needs and that young people are given the opportunity to take meaningful action during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring strong community partnerships and engagement, and that young people connect with decision-makers during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring respectful intergenerational partnerships and mentorship are prioritized during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring young people are meaningfully engaged in leadership and decision-making throughout their volunteer or service experience; and
- Ensuring that youth service and volunteerism programs integrate time for reflection and that these conversations are linked to systemic issues and long-term action.

As we pulled together the research for this report, it was reassuring to see how the research regarding how to best support young people's healthy youth development echoes much of the research about how to best support young people to engage as changemakers and citizens. When we give young people voice, engage them in real meaningful work that matters to them and that has an impact, prioritize community partnerships and engagement, encourage intergenerational partnerships, value young people's unique abilities and ensure young people connect their experiences to systemic issues and longer term action, we will be ensuring young people are healthier and that they are more likely to be lifelong changemakers and active citizens. By meaningfully engaging young people

we are also more likely to find and implement solutions to the pressing social and environmental challenges we all face.

Youth service and volunteerism has positive benefits, but there is no doubt that improvements can be made to ensure that the next phase of the Canada Service Corps reaches all Canadian youth, and that it increases the positive impacts it has on young participants, our communities and our country. More research is needed, but many insights can be gathered from the current body of knowledge. We hope that this report offers a clear road map for both policy makers, researchers and practitioners.

BY MEANINGFULLY ENGAGING YOUNG PEOPLE WE ARE ALSO MORE LIKELY TO FIND AND IMPLEMENT SOLUTIONS TO THE PRESSING SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CHALLENGES WE ALL FACE



1.0 INTRODUCTION

This literature review provides a current overview of leading practices in youth volunteerism and service in Canada and internationally with the aim of identifying trends and recurring themes as well as barriers that should be addressed to increase youth engagement in volunteerism and service. Special attention is given to how to engage traditionally underrepresented youth, in particular indigenous youth.

It is the intention that the insight gained from this research will help to inform the development of policy options for the next phase of the Canada Service Corps in 2019 – a signature program for youth service – as well as equip organizations working in the youth volunteerism and service sector in Canada with the knowledge they need to engage a more diverse cohort of young people, better support the young people they work with and increase their societal and environmental impact. The research questions that guided us in the development of this report are as follows:

- What does it mean for a young person (age 15 to 30) to be: a volunteer, a youth service participant, a changemaker, an engaged citizen and to have positive societal or environmental impact?
- What are leading theories and/or practices in Canada and internationally that result in more young people becoming changemakers & civically engaged?
- What are the barriers to youth engaging in volunteerism and service in Canada?
- What are the leading theories and/ or practices in youth service and volunteerism in Canada and internationally that result in positive societal and environmental impact?
- What do we know about the social impact (using monetary measures to measure impact) of youth service and volunteerism?



These research questions focus on: 1) what societal and environmental impact can result from youth service and volunteerism and; 2) how young people can best be supported to become lifelong changemakers and active citizens. We intentionally choose to only briefly address the skills and attitudes that young people gain through participation in youth service and volunteerism. Viewing the impact of these programs on the skills and attitudes of young people as only one of several societal outcomes these programs hope to achieve. The questions posed in this report are not easy ones to answer, which is perhaps why they often are not the focus of program evaluations or research. However, this focus was chosen because they are the core of why youth service programs exist; to have positive social and environmental impact and to encourage lifelong engagement of young participants. We are pleased to have been commissioned to do this work, and look forward to how it might reframe the conversations around the 'why' of youth service, for policy makers, practitioners and researchers alike.

While, we believe this report provides a valuable foundation for future research, it is important to note that there are

both voices missing and voices that are not as strongly represented in the literature reviewed as we would have hoped. We did not find any literature that speaks specifically to the engagement of young people with disabilities or LGBTQ2+ youth in youth service and volunteerism, and research referencing indigenous youth, newcomer youth, youth from rural and remote areas was sparse. We have made recommendations at the end of this report to address these areas of weakness in the current available literature, but we are aware that this report is less comprehensive and inclusive in scope than we would have liked it to be as a result of what research was available.

After reviewing the relevant research, we have chosen to divide the research into seven sections. In the first four sections we set the context for this work, in the fifth section we discuss how to support young people in becoming changemakers and active citizens, followed by a section discussing societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism programs. Finally, we discuss recommendations and insights for future research, policy and program design.

2.0 METHODOLOGY

To gain an understanding of the current trends and leading practices in youth service and volunteerism we conducted a systematized, interdisciplinary review. Systematized reviews include some elements of a systematic review, but do not aim for complete comprehensiveness (Grant & Booth, 2009). We aimed to provide a structured review of the literature from a broad cross-section of academic disciplines and youth-serving practitioners but without seeking to analyse everything that has been written on the subject of youth volunteerism and service.

We reviewed both relevant academic and grey literature, with coverage of English and French language sources from the last 15 years (2003 – 2018). We limited our search to research related to those young people 15 to 30 years of age and with a focus on Canadian research, where possible, while including relevant international research primarily from USA, Europe and Australia. To begin our search, we first looked for relevant literature in three databases; Google Scholar, ProQuest and Scopus using the

following key words:

Synonyms:

- "youth" "young people" "jeunesse" "teenagers" "emerging adults" "adolescent" "youth-led" "student" "étudiant" "youth programming"
- "volunteerism" "volunteer"
 "bénévolat" "environmental stewardship" "service" "service learning" "community service"
 "service communautaire"
- "social movements" "activism"
 "militant" "engagement"
- "social change" "environmental change" "social impact" "social innovation" "community impact"
- "agency" "civic engagement" "purpose" "change makers" "leaders" "leadership" "social entrepreneurs" "économie sociale" "sense of belonging"
- "barriers"
- "indigenous" "reconciliation"
 "autochtone"
- "official language minority communities" "anglophone" "francophone"
- "Canada"

Terms that were excluded from some English searches:

• "alcohol", "crime", "drugs", "romantic relationships", "sexual health", "violence".

Example of a word combination use is: "youth" AND "engagement" AND "Canada" NOT "alcohol"

Each of the three databases offers different search functionality. In Google Scholar we searched by 'title' and bound the searches by year (2003-2018). For the majority of searches in ProQuest we searched for primary key words in the title and abstract and additional key words 'anywhere' in the document. We bounded the searches by year (2003-2018) and reviewed only articles for which we could access the full text, but we did not limit our search to peer reviewed articles. For Scopus we searched for combinations of key words in the abstract, title and keywords, bounded by year (2003-2018). We did not limit searches in Scopus to peer reviewed articles.

We ended up using primarily ProQuest and Scopus as many of the searches on Google Scholar offered results that were not relevant for our purposes. If a search in ProQuest and Scopus offered too many results we narrowed our search by including the 'NOT' terms mentioned above.



In addition to the academic database searches, we requested relevant reports from the Canada Service Corps team at Employment and Social Development Canada, Statistics Canada, Canada Service Corps national partner organizations (4-H Canada, Apathy is Boring, Boys and Girls Club of Canada, Canadian Wildlife Federation, Chantiers Jeunesse, The Duke of Edinburgh's International Award, Katimavik, Mindyourmind, Oceanwise, YMCA) and We Charity.

We then looked to our own research database of 1052 youth engagement related academic and grey literature that we have complied over the last 8 vears, for relevant articles. This database has been compiled over the course of several research projects led by the Youth & Innovation Project with the aim of creating a database of research relevant to our stated mission: to ensure young people, 15 to 25 years old, are meaningfully engaged in finding and implementing solutions to social, environmental and economic problems, and are valued for the contributions they make.

Once all potential documents were collected we narrowed down our selections by reading the abstracts or introductions of each document to come up with the 112 documents which we reviewed for this literature review, of which, 70 were from the grey literature and 42 were academic articles. In order to meaningfully answer the research questions the documents we reviewed, for the most part, relate directly to vouth service and youth volunteerism. However, we also gathered insight from a variety of youth engagement related fields of study including articles focused on: positive youth development, youth leadership, social innovation, youth-led impact, student-led impact, environmental education, youth engagement, civic engagement, workintegrated learning, youth employment, developmental psychology, neuroscience and sociology. This is indicative of the Youth & Innovation Project's transdisciplinary approach which aims to maintain a rigorous academic standard while at the same time ensuring our research work is both applicable and practical.



In any study, it is important to reflect on the limitations of the methodology. Limitations of this literature review include that it is not a complete systematic review; we did not review all available literature on youth volunteerism and service. Instead, we focused on those sources deemed most relevant. It is possible our 'not' terms excluded articles that might have contained relevant content. It is also possible that our synonyms, while extensive, were not exhaustive. This included the fact that we did not search for the word 'voluntariat' in French, which, it was brought to our attention after the literature review was complete may have been a relevant term to search for. And we only reviewed literature from the last 15 years. In addition, while a transdisciplinary approach has its benefits by offering breadth, it may compromise depth. Another limitation is that in addition to government sources, only the ten organizations who are national signature partners in the Canada Service Corps pilot project as well as We Charity, were asked to recommend relevant documents for this review. Given the relatively small body of Canadian focused literature that we found through traditional academic searches, it may have been helpful to conduct interviews or broaden our search for documents by asking more practitioners for their recommendations of relevant reports or conducting interviews with practitioners. We were also unable to find as much literature as we had hoped that specifically referenced youth with disabilities, LGBTQ2+ youth, indigenous youth, newcomer youth, youth from rural and remote areas and youth from Official Language Minority communities. That said, the methodology used to select relevant literature was systemized and the report provides relevant insights.



3.0 DEFINITIONS

In order to contextualize the literature review, we first asked the question: What does it mean for a young person (age 15 to 30) to be: a youth service participant, a volunteer, a changemaker, an engaged citizen and to have positive societal or environmental impact? In this section we aim to answer that question by providing relevant definitions for each.

3.1 SERVICE

It has long been recognized that there is a need for a precise definition for what constitutes youth service. A definition is particularly difficult to determine due to the "enormous contextual variations between the programs that fall under the 'youth service' category" (*Mattero & Campbell-Patton*, 2009, p. iii). For the purpose of this report we examine literature from several domains that can be considered youth service; service learning, direct service, mandatory service and voluntary service.

Service learning is defined as "a range of activities intended to provide equal benefit to the service provider (the student) and the recipient (the community) while maintaining a focus on learning" (*Academica Group*, 2016, p. 5). Service learning tends to take place in the context of a high school or university program and is tied to curriculum outcomes (*Sutherland et al.*, 2006).

Direct service programs can be considered programs where the primary focus is the community activities that the young participants undertake (*Sutherland et al.*, 2006).

Mandatory service can take place in the context of either service learning or

direct service, where the community activities are a requirement, for example a forty hours of service requirement to graduate from high school (*Planty, Bozick, & Regnier*, 2006). This is differentiated from voluntary service where participants have a choice whether or not they want to participate in a program (*Mattero & Campbell-Patton*, 2009). It is important to note that the questions of mandatory versus voluntary service are separate from the question of whether or not participants are remunerated for their participation.

For the purpose of this report we will use the following definition to encompass all the various types of youth service: "an organized period of substantial engagement and contribution to the local, national or world community, recognized and valued by society" (*Mattero & Campbell-Patton*, 2009, p. 47).





CHANGEMAKERS SEE THE PATTERNS AROUND THEM, IDENTIFY PROBLEMS, DETERMINE SOLUTIONS AND PARTICIPATE IN COLLECTIVE ACTION

3.2 VOLUNTEER

The line between what can be considered service and what can be considered volunteerism is unclear at best. For the purpose of this report we will use the following definition of volunteerism, "the provision of unpaid help willingly undertaken in the form of time, service or skills, to an organisation or group" (*Walsh & Black*, 2015, p. 9).

There has been significant debate about the definition of volunteerism, not because of what it includes but because of what it may exclude:

"Unpaid work in a family business, community service orders, or activities undertaken to qualify for government benefits, as part of a student placement, or emergency work during an industrial dispute" (*Walsh & Black*, 2015, p. 9);

Direct volunteering, "that is, direct help which people offer that is not mediated through a formal organisation" (*Walsh* & *Black*, 2015, p. 9);

Informal volunteering, "described as volunteering, which occurs outside non-profit organisations and without a volunteer position description" (*Walsh* & *Black*, 2015, p. 9); and

"Emerging forms of social action and social participation amongst young people such as youth-led social enterprises and social entrepreneurship" (*Walsh & Black*, 2015, p. 10).

There is also growing concern that the traditional definition of volunteerism is problematic as it is a concept with little meaning in many cultural contexts and as such community contributions may "often go unrecognised and unreported" (*Walsh & Black*, 2015, p. 10). It also may exclude informal community based collaborative work that is particularly

common in indigenous communities (*Ramey, Lawford, & Rose-Krasnor*, 2017).

The definition of volunteerism is also considered problematic in the context of youth engagement because it often is found not to resonate with young people (*Dougherty*, 2011; *ESDC Innovation Lab*, 2016; *Thibault*, *Albertus, & Fortier*, 2007) or to include the kind of innovative activities they might undertake (*Dougherty*, 2011).

3.3 CHANGEMAKER

For the purpose of this report we will use the following definition of a changemaker: changemakers see the patterns around them, identify problems, determine solutions and participate in collective action to implement solutions and then adapt to changing situations (*Brooks*, 2018).

The term changemaker is more inclusive than volunteer, as it can include both formal and informal contributions as well as social and environmental impact taking place in many forms, both emerging and traditional, and at many scales (Ho et al., 2015). It also focuses on impact rather than form, thus encompassing both paid and unpaid work. It can also be seen to be more relevant in a variety of cultural traditions including Canada's indigenous communities, as it embodies a spirit of collective action and activities that are not mediated by organizations or separated from day to day life of a community (Government of Nunavut, n.d.).

3.4 ENGAGED CITIZEN

A second term that is often used in the literature to describe the kind of young person that youth service aims to develop is engaged citizen. For the purpose of this report we define an engaged citizen as someone who exercises their "rights while assuming responsibilities towards other citizens, participating in political institutions (e.g., by voting)" and who is actively engaged in "differing spheres of community life" (*Franke & Human Resources and Skills Development Canada*, 2010, p. 35).

The important difference between a young person being a changemaker and an engaged citizen is that an engaged citizen implies that a young people is actively participates in or challenges democratic institutions as part of their engagement.

3.5 POSITIVE SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

For the purpose of this report, we define positive social and environmental impact as any impact that helps to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals by ending poverty and inequality, building more prosperous and peaceful societies and / or protecting the planet (*Government of Canada*, 2018).

4.0 CURRENT CONTEXT

Before we discuss the findings of the literature review, it is important first to put the results in a broader context. In this section we will provide that context by discussing healthy youth development, providing an overview of young people in Canada as well as outlining what we know about young Canadians engagement as changemakers and citizens.

4.1 HEALTHY YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

Recent advances in neuroscience and developmental psychology have led experts to place increasing importance on brain development that occurs between 10 and 25 years of age. Brain development during these years is now considered as being equally as important as that which occurs during the first few years of life (Steinberg, 2014). Experts suggest that this period is the last key time for interventions that will adapt behavior throughout adulthood (Steinberg, 2014). Of particular interest for this report, some experts have suggested that ensuring young people are exposed to intellectually stimulating environments during this time of life is of particular benefit for brain development (*Steinberg*, 2014). Youth service is specifically mentioned as an example of this kind of intellectually stimulating environment by developmental psychologist Laurence Steinberg (*Steinberg*, 2014). Given this new understanding of the importance of brain development from 15 to 25 years of age, it is relevant to review what the literature says about how best to support to healthy youth development.

The report Youth who thrive: A review of critical factors and effective programs for 12-25 year olds, was written in 2014



by Social Program Evaluation Group (SPEG), Queen's University, The Students Commission of Canada and the Centre of Excellence for Youth Engagement. This report whose purpose is to "to analyze the critical factors that support youth ages 12-25 in thriving throughout life and through critical life stage transitions" (Khanna et al., 2014, p. 6), is recent, comprehensive and was developed by Canadian organizations for use in a Canadian context, as such it provides a relevant model to understand how healthy youth development might be supported.

Building on well-recognized positive youth development frameworks; the Search Institute Developmental Assets framework, Five Cs Model and selfdetermination theory, Youth who thrive proposes a new model for healthy youth development which they term the ARC model (*Khanna et al.*, 2014). ARC stands for autonomy, relatedness, and competence the three factors the authors consider to be central to healthy youth development.

In Youth who thrive autonomy is defined as: "having input or voice in

determining one's own behavior" (Khanna et al., 2014, p. 41). Ensuring young people are given the space and opportunity to become increasingly autonomous is an important factor in ensuring positive outcomes (Khanna et al., 2014). Autonomy can be encouraged in a variety of ways, but the research is consistent that giving young people the opportunity to participate in decisionmaking and leadership opportunities is key in the development of autonomy (Khanna et al., 2014). It is important to note however that autonomy must be balanced with structure and guidance. This is especially true for young people living in high-risk situations, who are likely to need more guidance and structure and less autonomy (Khanna et al., 2014).

Relatedness is defined in Youth who thrive as "the need to feel belonging and connection with others" (*Khanna et al.*, 2014, p. 49). As psychologist Robert Epstein explains "there is no intervention more powerful than simply 'being with'" (*Epstein*, 2010, p. 333). Inclusive environments where a respect for diversity is present are critical. "Opportunities for young people to

YOUNG PEOPLE TODAY MUST BE PREPARED THAT MODERN ADULTHOOD ALSO INVOLVES MULTIPLE ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES OF DIRECTION, BACKWARD STEPS AND FALSE STARTS

explore their ethno-cultural heritage in a supportive social context free from discrimination" must be present in order for programs to foster relatedness amongst young people of diverse backgrounds (*Khanna et al.*, 2014, pp. 91–92).

The Youth who thrive report describes competence "as knowing how to handle situations effectively. Competence is developed through opportunities for skill-building and mastery of physical, intellectual, psychological, emotional, social, and cultural skills" (Khanna et al., 2014, p. 58). Having developed a particular competency means "more than just knowledge or skills. It involves the ability to meet complex demands, by drawing on and mobilising psychosocial resources (including skills and attitudes) in a particular context" (Ontario Public Service, 2016, p. 9). However, it is important to note that competencies are culturally mediated... "with limited evidence to indicate that there are competences that are

universal" (*Khanna et al.*, 2014, p. 63). What is most important is that whatever competencies are developed have relevance for the young people who develop them, tasks "that are misaligned for the individual or tasks that have no intrinsic value for the youth will miss the mark" (*Khanna et al.*, 2014, p. 93).

Building on the Youth who thrive report in a report commissioned by The Lawson Foundation in 2017, the Youth & Innovation Project suggests that there may be a fourth key element for healthy youth development. This fourth element, purpose driven impact, can be understood as recognizing the unique abilities that young people possess while they are young and giving young people the opportunity to use these abilities in a context that has the potential for positive social, environmental or economic impact (Dougherty & Clarke, 2017a). Purpose can be defined as an "intention to accomplish something that is at once



4.2 YOUNG PEOPLE IN CANADA

Young Canadians today are more educated and diverse than ever before (*Statistics Canada*, 2018). In a 2016 study, 27% of 15 to 34 year olds identified as a member of a visible minority (*Statistics Canada*, 2018). And from 2006 to 2016, the number of youth aged 15 to 34 in the First Nations, Métis and Inuit communities increased by 39% (*Statistics Canada*, 2018). 97% of Canadian 15 year olds are attending high school, 24% of 19 year olds are attending college and 36% of 21 year olds are attending university (*Statistics Canada*, 2018).

While more young Canadians are attending post-secondary education, tuition fees for full-time undergraduate students have increased more quickly than the rate of inflation over the last ten years (Statistics Canada, 2018). Young people today have more credentials yet will have lower net wealth than their parents did in the early 1980s (Expert Panel on Youth *Employment*, 2017). Full-time jobs are less common and more likely to be temporary and some experts suggest that more than one in five people with a degree are employed in precarious work (Expert Panel on Youth Employment, 2017). The reality is even more challenging for indigenous youth aged



15 to 29 who have an employment rate almost 20% lower than their nonindigenous counterparts (*Expert Panel on Youth Employment*, 2017). Another group that faces heightened employment challenges are young English-speaking Quebecers who have lower employment rates than their French-speaking counterparts (*Quebec Community Groups Network*, 2009).

The transition to adulthood for Canada's young people is more complex with more diverse pathways than in the past and takes longer than it did for previous generations (*Arnett*, 2004). For those who have both financial and emotional support the increased choices and opportunities young people have today can be positive, however for those who do not have support it poses "new challenges to youth who are

increasingly called upon to build their own safety nets" (Franke & Human **Resources and Skills Development** Canada, 2010, p. 6). Experts are also concerned with higher rates of mood disorders amongst 15 to 24 year olds as compared to other age groups, and of particular concern are indigenous youth who are even more at risk for poor mental health (Statistics Canada, 2018). An additional worry for many experts is that the transition to adulthood is no longer one that can be considered synonymous with a transition to stability. Young people today must be prepared that modern adulthood also involves multiple adjustments, changes of direction, backward steps and false starts (Franke & Human Resources and Skills Development Canada, 2010).



4.3 YOUNG CHANGEMAKERS & CITIZENS

For the most part young Canadians believe that if they work together as a group they can make a difference (Environics Institute, 2017) and they possess a sense of civic responsibility (Bastedo, Dougherty, LeDuc, Rudny, & Sommers, 2012). Notably, 66% of Canadian youth, 15 to 19 years of age, volunteer (Statistics Canada, 2018). However, this statistic may be significantly influenced by school requirements for mandatory service (Hientz, Murpy-Zommerschoe, Sladowski, & Stoney, 2010). For young people between the ages of 20 to 34 years of age, 42% volunteer (Statistics Canada, 2018) and 81% of those aged 25 to 34 say they donate to a charity or non-profit (Statistics Canada, 2018). While more young people volunteer than other age cohorts, they volunteer for less hours on average than older cohorts (Hientz et al., 2010; René, 2011) and their volunteering tends to be more episodic (Lopez & Marcelo, 2007). The most common reasons given by young Canadians for volunteering is to give back and to help others (Bourassa, 2018; Environics Institute, 2017). Other common reasons why young Canadians volunteer include "achieving a sense of accomplishment, using one's skills and

experiences, exploring one's own strengths, networking and meeting people, and improving one's health or well-being" (*Environics Institute*, 2017, p. 52).

While young people may be volunteering at higher rates than those older than them, youth voter turnout has been on a steady decline in Canada and most of the western world for the last 40 years (Rudny, Dougherty, Blais, Dumitrescu, & Loewen, 2010). The reason for this is clear. As each new generation of young people becomes eligible to vote, fewer of them are choosing to opt into the democratic process. In the 1960s, 18 year olds turned out to vote at a rate of 70%, but only half as many 18 year olds who came of age in 2000s voted in the first election for which they were eligible (Loewen, 2013). On voting day for the 2015 Federal election, Canadians saw proof that a reversal of this long-time trend is possible. In 2015, 18 to 29 year old Canadians voted at a rate that was 15% higher than in 2011 (Anthony, Anderson, & Hilderman, 2016). It is hard to know if this increase in youth voter turnout will be sustained in future. But research suggests that it might be. Experts suggest that voting is habit-forming and young people who have voted in the past are more likely to vote in the future (Goldirova, 2015).



As the differences between the trends of voung people volunteering and voting illustrate it is important to note that it is unclear whether engaging in one kind of changemaking or civic engagement directly correlates to a young person engaging in other civic engagement activities. Voting, signing a petition, attending a community meeting, contacting a politician and other forms of civic engagement are distinct activities and experts do not agree if engagement in any one activity is a predictor of other forms of engagement (Bastedo et al., 2012; Gélineau, 2013). Young people's civic engagement and changemaking may not conform to traditional models and forms (Bastedo et al., 2012; Gauthier, 2010; René, 2011); some suggest that what it means to be engaged has changed due to technology and social media offering young people new and untraditional ways of becoming engaged (Opportunity Nation, 2014). Changemaking activities that young people now choose to engage in may involve looser networks (O'Rourke, 2012), less hierarchical structures (Pleyers, 2004; Riemer, Lynes, & Hickman, 2013), an embrace of entrepreneurship (Clarke & Dougherty, 2010) and a focus less on charity and instead on leadership and community impact (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016).

Young people are significantly more likely to volunteer "when their families emphasized an ethic of social responsibility" (*Flanagan, Bowes, Jonsson, Csapo, & Sheblanova,* 2010, p. 457) and if they have a parent or family member who has volunteered (*Andolina, Jenkins, Zukin, & Keeter,* 2003; *Grimm Jr, Dietz, Spring, Arey, & Foster-Bey,* 2005; *Lopez & Marcelo,* 2007; *Sutherland et al.,* 2006). "Strong



connections with family, friends, religious organisations and schools are a predictor of volunteerism among young people" (*Walsh & Black*, 2015, p. 27). Students who do well in school are also more likely to volunteer (*Grimm Jr et al.*, 2005).

Those with more education and higher income levels are more likely to vote. "Those who have attended a postsecondary institution have a likelihood of voting more often by almost 30 percentage points than those who have never attended a post-secondary institution. Similarly, young Canadians who are active students (at any level) have a turnout rate 7 percentage points higher than those who are not students" (Gélineau, 2013, p. 7). Young indigenous Canadians vote over 20 percentage points less than nonindigenous youth (Gélineau, 2013). "Those living in urban settings vote about 4 percentage points more often than young Canadians living in rural areas. Finally, respondents who were born in Canada vote more often than those who were born abroad by almost 6 points" (Gélineau, 2013, pp. 7-8).

When it comes to youth service, in the Canadian context youth with no former experience volunteering were less likely to participate in service (*Bourassa*,

2018; R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd., 2006). In the US young people of color, of lower socio-economic status and those who have not attended postsecondary are considerably underrepresented in service (Grimm Jr et al., 2005; Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012). In the Canadian context, research on Canadian youth volunteer abroad programs echoes the American findings, stating that "the overwhelming majority of students in the program are white and female" (Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012, p. 7). Another report indicated that youth service participants are likely to have at least one parent who has attended a post-secondary institution, with average parental income of \$118,000 (Dobbie & Fryer Jr., 2015).

Despite young people's engagement, mainstream discourse surrounding young people continues to be predominately negative (*Ho*, 2013). Particularly relevant for the purpose of this report in a recent Abacus Data Inc. poll commissioned by a coalition of Canada's leading youth-serving organizations, which noted that 70% of Canadian adults expressed that they "feel that young Canadians are not that prepared or not at all prepared to be active civic leaders in their community" (*Coletto*, 2018, p. 1).

5.0 YOUNG PEOPLE AS CHANGEMAKERS & ACTIVE CITIZENS

Now that we have provided the context for the issue at hand, the next two sections of this report address the core questions posed in this literature review. In this section we aim to answer the research questions:

- What are leading theories and/or practices in Canada and internationally that result in more young people becoming changemakers & civically engaged?
- What are the barriers to youth engaging in volunteerism and service in Canada?

Before exploring barriers to engaging young people and leading practices in youth service and volunteerism that lead to young people becoming changemakers and engaged citizens, it is useful to review what the literature says about whether or not youth volunteer and service programs are currently successful in ensuring young people become lifelong changemakers and engaged citizens.

In both the grey and academic literature the lack of standardized evaluations and high quality research that is consistent and methodologically rigorous in the youth service sector is repeatedly discussed (Lakin & Mahoney, 2006; Mattero & Campbell-Patton, 2009; McBride, Benítez, & Sherraden, 2003). In the grey literature reviewed from youth leadership and work-integrated learning fields, the need to improve research and evaluation is also discussed (Academica Group, 2016; Stauch & Cornelisse, 2016), which suggests a lack of high quality research and evaluation is a concern across youth-focused sectors.

Nonetheless, we can draw some conclusions about the impact youth service and volunteerism has on young people's likelihood of engaging as changemakers and engaged citizens in THE RESEARCH IS CLEAR THAT YOUTH SERVICE INCREASES YOUNG PEOPLE'S AWARENESS OF SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

> the longer term. The research is clear that youth service increases young people's awareness of social and environmental issues. "In performing community service, people may also become familiar with social problems of which they were previously unaware" (Hart, Donnelly, Youniss, & Atkins, 2007, p. 499) explains one academic study. Alumni of the program City Year credited the program with raising their awareness of social issues (Anderson, Laguarda, & Williams, 2007) and "eight years after enrolling in AmeriCorps, State and National and NCCC members are more likely to assess and reflect on the needs of their community" (Corporation For National & Community Service, 2008, p. 16). Several other academic studies suggest the same is true of service learning programs (*Planty et al.*, 2006; Sutherland et al., 2006).

> When it comes to the likelihood that a young person will continue volunteering

after participation in a youth service program, the literature suggests that the impact of youth service on young people's longer term volunteering habits are mixed. A 2010 study in Australia "found that 43% of adult volunteers in Australia had undertaken volunteer work as children, compared to only 27% of non-volunteers" suggesting the volunteering when young does have an impact on longer term habits (Walsh & Black, 2015, p. 22). For the US program City Year a grey literature study explains "in the year immediately following their year of service, nearly all alumni reported ... becom[ing] involved in some type of service/volunteer activity, and work[ing] to solve problems in their community" (Anderson, Laguarda, & Williams, 2007, p. ii). For AmeriCorps alumni, a grey literature study outlines that after September 11th, "a higher percentage of State and National and NCCC alumni reported donating their time than did the national population"

(Corporation for National & Community Service, 2004, p. 36). Questions remain though about how long lasting these effects are (Anderson et al., 2007; Planty et al., 2006), and whether the increased levels of volunteerism are because the kinds of youth who participate in service programs in the first place are more likely to be volunteers already (Metz & Youniss, 2003). A grey literature program evaluation of the Canadian Katimavik program found that "a majority of both Applicants (69%) and Participants (64%) reported involvement in volunteer work prior to their application to the program, and have continued to do so since the time of their application to (60%) / participation in the program (64%)" (R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd., 2006, p. 19).

When it comes to other types of engagement, there are some reports in a longitudinal study of increases in informal volunteering as a result of AmeriCorps (*Corporation for National* & *Community Service*, 2004). However, another report measuring the eight year impact of AmeriCorps shows no effect on rates of donating to non-profit organizations and social causes (*Corporation For National* & *Community Service*, 2008).

As to whether or not youth service leads to increased civic participation, results are mixed (*McAdam & Brandt*, 2009). A longitudinal study suggests that "participation in AmeriCorps results in statistically significant positive effects on Community-Based Activism behavior for both State and National members and NCCC members" (*Corporation for National & Community Service*, 2004, p. 54). A grey liturature longitudinal study of

City Year's alumni suggests that the program supports the development of psychological predispositions, skills, and institutional memberships that set corps members on a life path of even greater civic engagement" (Anderson et al., 2007, p. 2). A report by the Corporation for National & Community Service concludes that "introducing youth from disadvantaged circumstances to volunteer opportunities may provide an entry point to civic participation" (Spring, Dietz, & Grimm, 2007, p. 24). Likewise, another report that studied the effects of civic education on visible minorities iterated that "community service has the most consistent positive effect. Community service seems to be a more effective manner to promote political knowledge and participation than more traditional and cognitively oriented forms of civic education" (Claes, Hooghe, & Stolle, 2009, p. 629). However, in an academic article which assesses the effects of Teach for America (TFA) the authors find that "far from increasing subsequent civic involvement, the TFA experience appears, for some, to depress current service participation" (McAdam & Brandt, 2009, p. 20). The authors of this report suggest that this may be due to a sense from participants that the Teach for America approach is ineffective and also due to the fact that some participants found their experience isolating (McAdam & Brandt, 2009). These findings suggest that the service opportunities must be well designed to achieve the goal of long-term civic engagement.

Research surrounding whether or not youth service leads to increased voting rates were also mixed. Alumni of AmeriCorps had higher rates of registering and voting than the nation as a whole during the 2000 Presidential election (Corporation for National & *Community Service*, 2004), however "AmeriCorps had no impact on State and National and NCCC members' voting rates in the 2004 Presidential election. Voting rates for State and National members in the 2006 Congressional mid-term election were lower than for the comparison group, while there were no differences for NCCC members" (Corporation For National & Community Service, 2008, p. 24). For City Year alumni, "in spring 2004 and again in 2006, City Year participants reported voting at a significantly higher rate in the 2003 and 2005 state and local elections than did members of the comparison group. That is, in spring 2004, 41 percent of all eligible City Year participants reported voting in the 2003 state and local elections compared with 33 percent of the comparison group" (Anderson et al., 2007, p. 37). Academic studies have found that school-required community service, as well as extracurricular activities in high school, are a strong predictor of adult voting (Hart et al., 2007; Thomas & Mcfarland, 2010).

5.1 BARRIERS TO ENGAGING Young participants

While youth volunteerism and service programs generally have a positive effect on young participants' civic engagement, if these programs hope to encourage changemaking and engaged citizenship amongst those who would not have become engaged otherwise, it is important to consider who participates in these programs and who does not participate and what are the barriers to engagement faced by young people. As previously discussed, in the

Canadian context young people with no previous volunteer experience are less likely to participate in service (Bourassa, 2018) and research from the US indicates that young people of color, those of lower socio-economic status and those who have not attended postsecondary are considerably underrepresented in youth service programs (Dobbie & Fryer Jr., 2015; Grimm Jr et al., 2005; Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012). In this section we discuss what are main barriers according to the literature that impede young people, particularly indigenous youth, from engaging in volunteerism or service.

Throughout the literature a main barrier to youth engaging in volunteerism or service that is discussed is young people not having been asked to participate. Often volunteers are expected to reach out to organizations or find opportunities for engagement themselves (Lopez & Marcelo, 2007). According to the Canadian Millennials Social Values Study conducted in 2017 by The Environics Institute, 35 percent of young Canadians said that the reason they haven't volunteered is because no one asked them to. According to this same study, men and self-employed young people were most likely to have never been asked to volunteer (Environics Institute, 2017). A US study suggested that youth from low-income communities are less likely to be asked to serve than other young people (Roehlkepartain, 2007b). An Australian report states that "young people who are directly approached or invited are four times more likely to volunteer than those who have to create and navigate their own volunteering opportunities" (Walsh & Black, 2015, p. 25).

In addition, according to both grey and academic literature young people do not engage in volunteerism or service due to structural and/or financial barriers (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016; Froment-Prévosto & Fortier, 2005; Tiessen & Heron, 2012; Walsh & Black, 2015). Structural barriers can, for example, include things like the length of a program or required time commitment (Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012) or what is required to complete the recruitment process (Walsh & Black, 2015). The same has been found to be true in adjacent youth focused sectors including work-integrated learning (Academica Group, 2016). A grey literature report in Australia states that "even school-based volunteering programs may present too many logistical barriers to young people's participation: the need to navigate the 'red tape' of public liability insurance,

litigation, permissions, police checks and the other formalities that attend many volunteering programs acts as a deterrent for some young people" (Walsh & Black, 2015, p. 25). Increasingly financial barriers are also proving challenging for young people to overcome, as outlined in a 2018 Abacus Data poll. "Barriers to youth engagement are clear to the public. The rising cost of post-secondary education means youth need to work more to help pay for it, leaving less time to become engaged" (Coletto, 2018, p. 7). This is echoed by a report outlining why young people in Canada, even those who are post-secondary students, do not participate in work-integrated learning. The report states "24% of university graduate respondents identifying 'didn't get paid' as a major challenge" (Academica Group, 2016, p. 44).

A MAIN BARRIER TO YOUTH ENGAGING IN VOLUNTEERISM OR SERVICE IS YOUNG PEOPLE NOT HAVING BEEN ASKED TO PARTICIPATE



According to three grey literature reports, in addition to feeling stretched financially, young people, especially those from disadvantaged backgrounds, also feel time pressures which prohibit their engagement due to their other responsibilities and competing priorities (Bourassa, 2018; Ekos Research Associates Inc., 2008; O'Rourke, 2012; Spring et al., 2007). For indigenous young people the high prevalence of poverty, addictions, teenage pregnancies, high-school dropouts and homelessness may result in indigenous youth being disengaged in spaces where they can influence decisions as well as being disengaged from civil society in general (Matthew, 2009).

Significant barriers discussed in the literature to young people staying engaged in youth service or volunteerism are ageism (*Ménard*, 2010), tokenism (*Matthew*, 2009; *Monchalin et al.*, 2016) and failure of civil society organizations to meaningfully engage young people perspectives and ideas in the course of volunteer or service programs. Tokenism was identified as a particular challenge for indigenous youth in two academic articles (*Matthew*, 2009;

Monchalin et al., 2016), where the participants in the programs often felt that they were not being treated respectfully or equally, their viewpoints were disregarded and were not taken seriously because the adults had stereotyped and racially profiled them (Matthew, 2009) and indigenous youth "were often excluded from important conversations" (Monchalin et al., 2016, p. 145). An Austrialian report speaks of how young people are "sensitive to being assigned unattractive, unengaging or unsatisfying tasks by voluntary organisations or to the failure of organisations to consult with them about what matters and what best works for them...organisational culture can make or break the success of [young] volunteer involvement" (Walsh & Black, 2015, p. 25).

For indigenous youth in particular significant barriers according to one academic study that limits indigenous youth participation is the effect of colonization as well as intergenerational trauma. Colonial intervention has enforced western ideologies of leadership and governance, resulting in decreased indigenous representation and participation (*Monchalin et al.*,
2016). Intergenerational trauma has resulted in a focus on healing of individuals and communities rather than young people taking on external leadership roles (*Monchalin et al.*, 2016). Another academic article speaks of the Eurocentric nature of many youth volunteerism programs and as a result these programs have limited relevance for indigenous youth (*Aylward, Abu-Zahra, & Giles*, 2015).

5.2 LEADING PRACTICES IN Addressing Barriers to Engaging Young Participants

In order to increase the likelihood that diverse young people will participate in youth service and volunteerism programs, the following leading practices from youth service and volunteerism, as well as other domains of youth engagement, are worth considering.

ASK YOUNG PEOPLE TO GET INVOLVED

The consistent finding throughout the grey and academic literature is that a barrier to youth engaging in service and

volunteerism is that they have not be asked to participate (Hastings, Barrett, Barbuto Jr., & Bell, 2010; Hientz et al., 2010; Metz & Youniss, 2003; Walsh & Black, 2015). As such a leading practice is to meet youth where they are and ask them to get involved rather than expecting them to seek out programs (Dougherty, 2011; Walsh & Black, 2015). How young people are asked to participate is considered important. Being asked to become involved by someone they trust, for example a teacher (Corporation for National & Community Service, 2009; Spring et al., 2007), a peer or a friend has been shown to be an effective strategy (Helferty & Clarke, 2009; René, 2011). In addition, asking a young person to participate in person is consistently shown to be the most effective method for engagement (Anthony et al., 2016; ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016). A grey literature report suggests, the act of asking a young person to contribute can be an end in itself as it affirms that young person's value to their community and society at large (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016).

THE ACT OF ASKING A YOUNG PERSON TO CONTRIBUTE CAN BE AN END IN ITSELF AS IT AFFIRMS THAT YOUNG PERSON'S VALUE TO THEIR COMMUNITY AND SOCIETY AT LARGE



FINANCIAL AND EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVES

In order to address financial and structural barriers to engagement incentives to facilitate participation are a leading practice discussed in the literature. In Australia, "an evaluation of the Young Volunteer Challenge, for example, found that financial incentives facilitated the participation of a greater diversity of young volunteers, including a greater diversity of socioeconomic, ethnicity, gender, disability and qualification characteristics" (Walsh & Black, 2015, p. 41). Awards may be another type of incentive that may encourage more young people of diverse ethnic backgrounds to participate in volunteerism (Walsh & Black, 2015).

One such example of a volunteering incentive is the Education Award which is awarded to all participants of AmeriCorps. AmeriCorps offers "each member who completes a year of service...an education award" (*Corporation For National & Community Service*, 2008, p. 36). This award can be used to pay for postsecondary education or to repay student loans. According to a report measuring the eight year impact of AmeriCorps on alumni, 70% of the survey participants revealed that the education award was one of the primary reasons that motivated them to apply to AmeriCorps (Corporation For National & Community Service, 2008). In interviews with Canadian young people conducted by ESDC Innovation Lab they heard that "the role of incentives and recompense does not undermine the notion of community service, and can in fact be a necessary approach to making opportunities more accessible to young people who do not have the resources to otherwise engage in the civic benefits of service" (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016, p. 4).



FLEXIBILITY AND COORDINATED SUPPORT

In order to address structural barriers recommendations from other domains of the youth sector suggest that programs "to be nimble and flexible enough to meet youth where they are" (Expert Panel on Youth Employment, 2017, p. 32). Another report reminds us that "different youth negotiate multiple changes at different times than their peers, within different intra- and intercultural environments, with varying resources, and therefore require flexible, culturally appropriate and responsive supports throughout these transitions" (Khanna et al., 2014, p. 68). In the context of engaging marginalized youth, leading practices include delivering "a high touch with personalized approaches" (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016, p. 7) as well as ensuring a variety of programs and structures are offered so that diverse young people can participate despite

time and financial constraints they might face in their day to day lives (*Bourassa*, 2018).

Addressing structural barriers also means coordinating support and ensuring a comprehensive, multifaceted approach to supporting young people, particularly those who can be considered at risk (Franke & Human **Resources and Skills Development** Canada, 2010; Spano, 2003). This might include connecting youth service and volunteerism initiatives with other youth focused programming such as those aimed at addressing youth unemployment, encouraging young people to attend post-secondary education, those programs encouraging young people to become entrepreneurs as well as settlement agencies, youth in care organizations and mental health organizations. To ensure that young people will be most likely to continue their engagement beyond their time in a youth service or volunteer program it is



important that these programs filter "young people into other institutions, such as colleges, churches, and political organizations, which open up additional opportunities to volunteer" (Hill & Den Dulk, 2013, p. 182). Attachment to institutions that continue beyond a particular program are important to continued engagement (Planty et al., 2006; Shen, 2005). This could include finding ways of intentionally integrating alumni into the governance of youth service or volunteerism organizations themselves (America's Service Commissions and Innovations in Civic Participation, 2014).

5.3 LEADING PRACTICES IN ENGAGING YOUTH AS CHANGEMAKERS AND ACTIVE CITIZENS

In order to increase the likelihood that youth service and volunteerism programs will result in young people engaging as changemakers and active citizens in the long-term, the following leading practices from youth service and volunteerism as well as other domains of youth engagement are worth considering.

CONNECT PROJECTS TO YOUNG PEOPLE'S INTERESTS

A leading practice to ensure that youth service and volunteer programs result in young people staying engaged as changemakers and engaged citizens is to ensure the projects they work on are of interest to them. The importance of young people being engaged in working on issues they are passionate about and that they see as valuable is repeated time and time again in both the grey and academic literature (Bourassa, 2018; Mclean, Bergen, Truong-White, Rottmann, & Glithero, 2017; Ramey et al., 2017; Skinner & French, 2012; *Thibault et al.*, 2007; *Wagner*, 2012; Walsh & Black, 2015; Zeldin, 2004). "A clear connection between students' lives and what they are learning is essential for civic engagement" (Mclean et al.,

2017, p. 95). It is also important that young people that the way young people are engaged is relevant to them, the form of engagement as well as the content are significant (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016). Connecting young people's service experience with their interests is especially important for disadvantaged youth (Roehlkepartain, 2007b). One example of a how a program connects indigenous young people's interests with their volunteer work is Northern Youth Abroad. Young participants work with a self-selected mentor in their communities prior to the program. They complete a series of assignments, selfassessments and community research then their placements are made based on the interests that participants express in these assignments (Aylward *et al.*, 2015).



"THE ONLY WAY TO BECOME A CHARGEMAKER IS TO BE ONE AND PRACTICE"

BILL DRAYTON ASHOKA, FOUNDER

REAL NEEDS AND REAL IMPACT

Mentioned repeatedly in the academic and grey literature as a leading practice is that the work young people do in the context of youth service and volunteerism meets real needs and that young people are given the opportunity to take meaningful action (ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016; Hastings et al., 2010; Lakin & Mahoney, 2006; Myrah, 2009; Riemer et al., 2013; Roehlkepartain, 2007a; Seider, Rabinowicz, & Gillmor, 2012; Sutherland et al., 2006; Thibault et al., 2007; Wagner, 2012). As Bill Drayton, founder of the global organization Ashoka explains "the only way to become a changemaker is to be one and practice" (Drayton, n.d., p. 5). An example of this kind of meaningful engagement is CityStudio in Vancouver, a program whose vision is "to co-create a city where students are deeply

engaged inside City Hall to make our city more livable, joyful and sustainable" (*CityStudio Vancouver*, 2017, p. 8). As part of CityStudio's manifesto the organization commits that young people involved will do something real and tackle global issues at a local level (*CityStudio Vancouver*, 2017).

Academic literature also suggests that it is essential for young people to see the positive impacts of their engagement (*Ho et al.*, 2015; *René*, 2011; *Riemer et al.*, 2013; *Thomas & Mcfarland*, 2010). "One of the key sustaining factors is for youth to believe they made a difference. Thus, organizations and programmes that provide opportunities for shortterm measurable impact will likely be more successful in engaging the youth in the long term" (*Riemer et al.*, 2013, p. 9).



ENGAGE WITH COMMUNITIES AND DECISION-MAKERS

That youth service organizations develop and maintain strong community partnerships and ensure input is gathered from relevant community stakeholders is as a leading practice in youth service and across the youth engagement sector more broadly (Academica Group, 2016; America's Service Commissions and Innovations in Civic Participation, 2014; Celio, Durlak, & Dymnicki, 2011; Franke & Human Resources and Skills Development Canada, 2010; Seider et al., 2012). Program design should include developing "community partnerships and solicit and accept community input on the desired elements and goals of service projects" (Celio et al., 2011, p. 167) and as the manifesto of CityStudio explains "you can't solve a complex problem without hearing from everyone affected by it" (CityStudio Vancouver, 2017, p. 2). In the context of working in indigenous communities ensuring program flexibility to allow for community

ownership of projects and integration of indigenous culture is a leading practice for successful youth programs (*Arellano, Halsall, Forneris, & Gaudet,* 2018). This is also particularly relevant in the context of official language minority youth, who view collaboration across language lines as of particular importance (*Quebec Community Groups Network,* 2009).

To increase the likelihood that young people will stay engaged as citizens in the longer term, several grey literature reports suggest that it is important that young people connect with decisionmakers in the community (*Public Policy Forum*, 2012). Talking with decisionmakers about public policy (*Gélineau*, 2013) and feeling that working with decision-makers and government can lead to positive change increases the likelihood that a young person will remain an engaged citizen (*Corporation for National & Community Service*, 2004).



INTERGENERATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS & MENTORSHIP

Another consistent theme repeated throughout the literature was the importance of respectful intergenerational partnerships (Coletto, 2018; Corrigan, 2007; Dougherty & Clarke, 2017a; Ramey et al., 2017; René, 2011; Shen, 2005; Skinner & French, 2012; Zeldin, 2004) and mentorship (Arnold, Cohen, & Warner, 2009; Bourassa, 2018; Corrigan, 2007; ESDC Innovation Lab, 2016; Michelson, 2005; Monchalin et al., 2016; Perkins, 2008; Shen, 2005; Spano, 2003; Wagner, 2012). This especially important for engaging marginalized young people (Blanchet-Cohen, Mack, & Cook, 2010) and is particularly culturally relevant in an indigenous context (4Rs Youth Movement, n.d.; Monchalin et al., 2016). In this context, who the mentors are is an important consideration, "service-learning is perceived to have

well-educated, middle-class, and white leadership. Finding ways to broaden leadership will offer young people more role models to motivate and guide them into a lifetime of service" (*Roehlkepartain, 2007b*, p. 1).

It is important that these relationships are based on deep respect and trust (Blanchet-Cohen et al., 2010; Wagner, 2012) and that young people feel a sense of safety and clarity from mentors but are also given freedom to act (Steinberg, 2014). To be effective youth and adult partnerships should shift from those based solely on "guidance, support and resources" to ones where "power is shared, mutual, and reciprocal" (Tanner & Arnett, 2009, p. 40). For mentorship to be effective contact between mentor and mentee must be consistent and take place at least once a week or more especially if a young person is considered at risk (Khanna et al., 2014).



YOUTH VOICE IN DECISION-Making

Consistent throughout the academic and grey literature as a leading practice is ensuring young people are meaningfully engaged in leadership and decision-making throughout their volunteer or service experience (America's Service Commissions and Innovations in Civic Participation, 2014; Anderson et al., 2007; Celio et al., 2011; Dougherty & Clarke, 2017a; Hart et al., 2007; Mclean et al., 2017; Quintelier, 2008; Roehlkepartain, 2007a; Shen, 2005; Wagner, 2012). Opportunities for co-creation and involving youth in decision-making are particularly important when engaging indigenous (4Rs Youth Movement, n.d.; Arellano et al., 2018; Matthew, 2009; Monchalin et al., 2016) and official language minority young people (Quebec Community Groups Network, 2009). Successful programs "are designed in a manner that gives youth participants the ability to define the context of their participation and act as co-creators or partners in an activity that brings meaningful change to the participants (as individuals) and/or to the community the participants belong to" (*Riemer et al.*, 2013, p. 19).

Effectively engaging youth in decisionmaking necessitates embracing youth culture (Helferty & Clarke, 2009) and for adults to encourage creativity and difference even when young people choose to do things differently than they would (Corrigan, 2007). Youth service organizations as well as community partners might consider making structural changes so that youth voice is supported throughout the organization's governance structures (Shen, 2005; Zeldin, 2004). Engaging youth in decision-making can also take the form of young people creating their own projects or project plans (Bourassa, 2018).

The literature suggests that recognizing young people's abilities including their capacity for innovation is important (*Dougherty & Clarke*, 2017b). An example of the kind of framing that can promote this is City Year's belief that "young people in service can be powerful resources in addressing our nation's most pressing issues" (*Anderson et al.*, 2007, p. 1). A grey liturature report explains the importance of young people feeling valued and not just a source of 'cheap labour' (*Shen*, 2005).

TIME FOR REFLECTION & LINKING Service to systemic issues AND long-term action

Another recurring theme throughout the grey and academic literature is the importance of ensuring that youth service programs integrate time for reflection (Bourassa, 2018; Celio et al., 2011; Jones & Hill, 2009; Mclean et al., 2017; McLellan & Youniss, 2003; Roehlkepartain, 2007a; Spano, 2003; We Charity, n.d.) and encourage critical thinking (Hosang, 2003; Riemer et al., 2013; Spano, 2003; We Charity, n.d.). In particular encouraging young people to "think beyond their individual actions and consider the larger structural issues that have necessitated the volunteer work" and giving them "ample opportunities to reflect collectively on discouraging experiences" (Seider et al., 2012, p. 450).

Creating space to address power dynamics within organizations, amongst peers or within the community is also a leading practice. "Addressing power dynamics is a continual process of checking in with each other and changing strategies to ensure that the tensions that arise between people don't end up silencing some or making others feel excluded and unsafe" (Skinner & French, 2012, p. 14). In addition, grey and academic liturature suggests that it is important that participants have an opportunity to understand the sociopolitical context of their work as well as exploring issues of individual privilege and identity (Mclean et al., 2017; Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012; Shen, 2005). Throughout difficult conversations ensuring differences of opinion are respected and respectful conflict is not avoided allows young people to "develop understandings of conflict and change as necessary and legitimate to address issues of power" which is particularly important for marginalized young people (*Mclean et al.*, 2017, p. 95).

Encouraging young people in the context of these conversations to consider what their longer term civic engagement might look like after they leave the youth service program may increase engagement (*Goldirova*, 2015). It also may be effective to encourage young people to think of the kinds of strategies they might employ once they leave the programs to continue to have impact on issues they care about (*Ho et al.*, 2015).



6.0 SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTA IMPACT OF YOUTH SERVICE AND VOLUNTEERISM

OELAY.

In this section on societal and environmental impact we aim to answer the following questions:

- What are the leading theories and/ or practices in youth service and volunteerism in Canada and internationally that result in positive societal and environmental impact?
- What do we know about the social impact (using monetary measures to measure impact) of youth service and volunteerism?

When it comes to understanding whether or not young service and volunteerism programs lead to positive societal and environmental impact concerns about the failure of program evaluation and research to measure these outcomes are discussed in the literature (*Pluim & Jorgenson*, 2012; *Powell & Bratovic*, 2007; *Tiessen & Heron*, 2012; *Zanchetta*, *Schwind*, Aksenchuk, Gorospe, & Santiago, 2013). In particular, it is argued in a global review of civic service programs, that evaluations tend to focus on the skills young participants are developing rather than the impact these programs have on the communities they serve or more broadly on societal or environmental issues (McBride et al., 2003). As one academic article explains that "the impact of these programs is rarely measured in terms of poverty alleviation and improved quality of life. Rather, the impact is measured in terms of personal growth and skills development for the Canadian youth" (Tiessen & Heron, 2012, p. 12). Another academic article goes so far as to say "these programs continue to exist as a predominantly one-way exchange of people, ideas and benefits" (Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012, p. 13). Another academic article spoke about how the voices of civil society were not included by researchers in the program they

EVALUATIONS TEND TO FOCUS ON THE SKILLS YOUNG PARTICIPANTS ARE DEVELOPING RATHER THAN THE IMPACT THESE PROGRAMS HAVE ON THE COMMUNITIES THEY SERVE

study (*Zanchetta et al.*, 2013) and when young participants were asked to measure their own impact they were unsure how to do so and expressed "that they just had no way of measuring their impact" (*Tiessen & Heron*, 2012, p. 8).

That researchers and evaluators tend to focus on the skills or training a young person receives through an activity or program rather than the impact on society and the environment, was one of the findings of a study the Youth & Innovation Project conducted looking at a 35 year history of youth-led impact in Canada (Ho et al., 2015). The resulting academic article recommended ensuring "that the impact a youth-led initiative has on society is also evaluated" (Ho et al., 2015, p. 61). An academic article focused on developing and assessing youth-based environmental engagement programs further recommends "the aim of

environmental action should not solely be focused on the environmental outcome, nor the development of youth as citizens or change agents, but rather the integration of individual and community development through a systems approach" (*Riemer et al.*, 2013, p. 5).

Despite the lack of available research, during the course of the literature review some research which discusses the societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism programs was reviewed and is outlined below.

6.1 TYPES OF SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

IMPACTS ON YOUNG PARTICIPANTS

The impact of youth service and volunteerism that is most frequently evaluated is the impact on young participants themselves, which can be considered a societal impact. The impacts of youth service programs on young participants are well documented in both the grey and academic literature.

Volunteering is linked to positive health outcomes in both the academic and grey literature (Corporation For National & Community Service, 2008; Planty et al., 2006), specifically improvements in mortality rates, mental health, wellbeing and physical health are documented (Conference Board of Canada, 2018; Corporation For National & Community Service, 2008). Volunteerism is also linked to less delinquency (Planty et al., 2006) and improved academic performance (Planty et al., 2006; Roehlkepartain, 2007b). In an academic article Canadian youth service program, Northern Youth Abroad found that participation in their program led to significant benefits in improved academic performance and career readiness amongst Inuit youth (Aylward et al., 2015). One academic study found that young people who

volunteered had an improved likelihood of completing high school (Moorfoot, Leung, Toumbourou, & F. Catalano, 2015) and an interviews with the Canadian youth service program Katimavik's alumni found they were more likely to continue their higher education than applicants who had not participated in the program (R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd., 2006). In a meta-analysis which looked at the impact of service-learning on students, a relatively high mean effect for academic performance was found (Celio et al., 2011). This outcome has also been found for young people who may be considered to be socioeconomically disadvantaged; one grey literature report concluded that when socioeconomically disadvantaged young people volunteer they gain a more positive outlook on their ability to succeed in further education (Walsh & Black, 2015). Findings however, are not consistent across the board, in one academic study on the AmeriCorp program "few statistically significant impacts were found for measures of participants' attitude toward education



or educational attainment" (*Frumkin et al.,* 2009, p. 394).

In the academic literature participants in youth service describe the positive impact the experience had on their personal growth (*Tiessen & Heron*, 2012). Youth service also builds selfesteem according to both grey and academic literature (*Celio et al.*, 2011; *Lakin & Mahoney*, 2006; *Ménard*, 2010; *Ramey et al.*, 2017).

Findings from both an alumni cohort study and the longitudinal study of the US program City Year suggest participants built social capital and social trust through their participation (*Anderson et al.*, 2007) and students who participate in service learning programs or who volunteer have shown to have stronger ties to their schools, their peers and their communities according to both academic and grey literature (*Lakin & Mahoney*, 2006; *Ménard*, 2010; *Planty et al.*, 2006).

Participant in youth service also indicate that they have developed leadership skills as a result of their participation (*Corporation For National & Community Service*, 2008) including an alumni study which

indicated that one year after completing the program alumni reported that the program had "contributed to their ability to work as part of a team (98 percent); lead others to complete a task (95 percent); work with people from diverse backgrounds (92 percent); speak in front of a group (83 percent); and critically analyze ideas and information (76 percent)" (Anderson et al., 2007, p. 13). According to one Canadian program evaluation, youth service participants gained "relational and vocational assets, including communication skills, leadership and teamwork skills, increased selfconfidence in what they have to contribute, and increased decisionmaking skills" (Bourassa, 2018, p. 34). A grey literature study of AmeriCorps found "statistically significant increases in [participants] work skills compared to the comparison group (Corporation for National & Community Service, 2004, p. 2).

There is no doubt that participating in youth service programs and volunteerism has a positive impact on the young participants when it comes to a variety of measures. However, results vary significantly between different

PARTICIPATING IN YOUTH SERVICE PROGRAMS AND VOLUNTEERISM HAS A POSITIVE IMPACT ON THE YOUNG PARTICIPANTS programs, as one academic study on AmeriCorps explained "program design is a relevant factor in what skills, values, and experience participants gain from service" (*Frumkin et al.*, 2009, p. 413). The inconsistency of how results are measured and what is measured makes it difficult to come to conclusions about the benefits young participants derived from participating in youth service writ large.

FOSTERING TOLERANCE FOR DIVERSITY

Now that we have reviewed the literature regarding the impact of youth service and volunteerism on young participants we will turn our attention to the other impacts these programs have on society and the environment.

Academic and grey literature suggest that another societal impact that youth service programs produce is fostering tolerance for diversity. "Research shows that participation in service-learning programs increases students' tolerance and favorable attitudes toward others (*Frumkin et al.*, 2009, p. 396). An evaluation of Teach for America shows an increase in "implicit black-white tolerance, as measured by an Implicit Association Test (IAT), by 0.8 standard deviations. TFA service is also associated with statistically insignificant increases in explicit black-white tolerance and implicit white-Hispanic tolerance" (*Dobbie & Fryer Jr.*, 2015, p. 3). In the Canadian context, an evaluation of Katimavik found that the program resulted in "a greater sensitivity to the various regions, communities and cultures across Canada" (*R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd.*, 2006, p. i).

INCREASING CAPACITY OF CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANIZATIONS

Another societal impact that youth service programs have is increasing the capacity of the civil society organizations that the young people are placed in during their service (Roehlkepartain, 2007a). In a study outlining the impacts of Katimavik "the majority of community partners also indicated that without participation in Katimavik their projects would have had not proceeded or proceeded with a reduced scope. In addition, most partners felt that the program helped their organization to meet its goals" and increased organizational capacity (R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd., 2006, p. ii).

YOUTH SERVICE PROGRAM INCREASE THE CAPACITY OF THE CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANIZATIONS

IMPACTS OF INDIVIDUAL PROJECTS

Part of the difficulty of measuring the societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism is the sheer variety of the kinds of service activities young people participate in (*McLellan & Youniss*, 2003).

In terms of volunteering, according to one Canadian poll of young people they tend to say they have participated in activities such as "organizing or supervising events and activities, canvassing or fundraising and teaching, educating or mentoring" (*Environics Institute*, 2017, p. 52).

When it comes to youth service, in the context of the American college setting, "the three most popular types of community service and community service-learning for college students are tutoring K–12 youth, volunteering in soup kitchens and homeless shelters, and promoting sustainability and environmentalism" (*Seider, Rabinowicz, & Gillmor,* 2012, p. 448). In Canadian youth service program activities included delivering youth focused programming, mentoring

youth, advocating for youth interests and needs in the community, volunteering with local charities and non-profits and starting a company (Bourassa, 2018). In the context of another program that took place in a post-secondary institution students "service placements ranges from tutoring urban elementary school students to volunteering at a suicide hotline to helping low-income families apply for affordable housing" (Seider et al., 2012, p. 449). In a review of 52 of the most innovative AmeriCorps programs activities included providing clothing, food, referrals and transportation to young clients, empowering adult and child survivors of domestic violence and sexual assault crimes, providing technology instruction to improve computer literacy, mobilizing local volunteers, matching young people with mentors, contributing to land and water based conservation projects, providing environmental leadership training for students, energy education and basic weatherization to low-income households (America's Service





Commissions and Innovations in Civic Participation, 2014). The most common types of activities listed in that report were related to coaching, mentoring and tutoring students (*America's Service Commissions and Innovations in Civic Participation*, 2014).

A critique of the types of activities that young people tend to participate in as part of youth service programs was that they "promoted a politically indifferent volunteerism, encouraging youth participants to eschew issues like police brutality, toxic pollution, and educational discrimination in favor of community crime watches, neighborhood clean-ups, and afterschool tutoring (Hosang, 2003, p. 5). Another Canadian academic article explains, "our study identified a clear gap between the systemic nature of the issues that youth identified as being interested in and the individual nature of the actions that they are currently engaging in (Mclean et al., 2017, p. 103).

6.2 MONETARY MEASURES OF SOCIAL IMPACT

Of the few studies that we found that use monetary measures to measure the social impact of youth service and volunteerism all were grey literature. In 2018, the Conference Board of Canada found that "under conservative assumptions, the sizable work effort that Canadians put into volunteering would add nearly \$56 billion to GDP (in current dollars) in 2017. This represents about 2.6 per cent of Canada's economic activity" (*Conference Board of Canada*, 2018, p. 6).

A 2006 study looking at the economic impact of Katimavik found that "the Katimavik program generates net positive returns based on the value of the volunteer labour and other induced economic benefits. Based on the average return, and utilizing community partners' estimate of value of work, it appears that each dollar spent by the Katimavik program generates a return of \$2.20 in each community, or a net return of \$1.20" (*R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd.*, 2006, p. iii).



A report published by the Aspen Institute examined the economic benefits of National Service in the American context. This report mentioned that measuring economic value of National Service is difficult because "national service programs differ in their objectives, covering areas such as disaster services, economic opportunity, education, environmental stewardship, and health and support for veterans" (Belfield, 2013, p. 10) and because it is difficult to assign economic value to social gains (Belfield, 2013). This report measured economic benefits of national service by examining social costs and benefits as well as financial costs and benefits. In summary, this report iterates that "benefits exceed their costs by almost 2.7%" (Belfield, 2013, p. 7). According to this report, a 1-point increase in volunteering led to 0.192% decrease in unemployment and the report also suggests that there is a strong positive correlation between volunteering and higher income. Incomes of young volunteers aged 16-24 were higher than non-volunteers by 12% (Belfield, 2013).

In another grey literature report by Opportunity Nation focused its research on civic engagement and economic activity. This report suggests that volunteerism has an inverse relationship with income inequality; high rates of volunteerism correlated with low rates of income inequality (Opportunity Nation, 2014, p. 5). A grey literature report on civic health and unemployment found that "states and localities with more civic engagement in 2006 saw less growth in unemployment between 2006 and 2010. This was true even after adjusting for the economic factors that others have found to predict unemployment rates over this period" (National Conference on Citizenship, 2011). The authors of this report are careful to say however that this does not prove there is correlation between civic engagement and employment but rather the report is meant to encourage further study & discussion (National Conference on Citizenship, 2012).

6.3 LEADING THEORIES AND PRACTICES TO INCREASE SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Now that we have summarized what limited literature there is on the societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism, we examine strategies that may be worth considering if youth service and volunteerism programs hope to increase their societal and environmental impact.

MEASURE SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

The literature suggests that an important first step towards increasing the societal and environmental impact of youth service and volunteerism programs is taking the emphasis of evaluation and research off solely measuring the impacts of these programs on young participants and rather ensuring evaluation and research is more holistic and measures all intended outcomes including impact on the organizations and communities as well as broader societal and environmental impacts (Ho et al., 2015; Pluim & Jorgenson, 2012; Powell & Bratovic, 2007; Riemer et al., 2013; Tiessen & Heron, 2012; Zanchetta et al., 2013). Improving the quality of evaluations and research more generally to allow for better comparison across programs may also be helpful in this regard.

FOCUS ON STRATEGY

Another important means of amplifying the impact of youth volunteerism according to one academic article, especially given the short term nature of these interventions, is to ensure that community initiatives have clear achievable social and environmental goals (Savan, Morgan, & Gore, 2003). In addition, the Youth & Innovation Project's look at 35 years of youth-led impact in Canada found that focusing on the most effective strategies for addressing a societal or environmental problem such as awareness-raising (educational campaigns, artistic expression etc.), influence (youth indirectly affect social change) or power (activities in which youth directly affect change themselves) (Clarke &

Dougherty, 2010) or partnerships (cooperating with allies) was more important for impact than the duration of a given initiative (*Ho et al.*, 2015). The same study also found 'political engagement' was often the kind of engagement where youth-led initiatives resulted in the most significant societal or environmental impact (*Ho et al.*, 2015). A systemic approach to change, "analysing root causes and envisioning and enacting possible solutions" (*Riemer et al.*, 2013, p. 5) might also be a valuable strategy.

ENGAGING YOUNG PEOPLE IN LEADERSHIP ROLES HAS ALSO BEEN SHOWN TO INCREASE IMPACT

7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS & INSIGHTS

RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the literature reviewed the following are recommendations for future research and policy design:

Recommendation 1:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider co-creating with young people a research program that focuses on better understanding how to engage young people as active citizens and changemakers, how to increase the social and environmental impact of youth focused programs and how to create a culture of service in Canada. High quality and methodically rigorous research developed through meaningful collaborations with young people, youth-serving organizations and communities should be prioritized. Areas of focus that should be considered as part of this program are:

- Developing methods for measuring the impact youth service programs have on communities and organizations, as well as the societal and environmental impact of these programs;
- Developing methods for measuring the social impact of Canadian youth service programs by monetary measures;
- Conducting research that focuses on cross program comparisons;

- Through collaborations with indigenous youth and researchers, understanding the additional barriers faced by, and realities of, indigenous young people in Canada and how youth service programs might contribute to reconciliation;
- Through collaborations with youth and researchers from underrepresented communities, understanding the additional barriers faced by, and realities of, young people from these communities and how to address them;
- Understanding what particular elements of youth service programs lead to positive outcomes (*Jones* & *Hill*, 2009), including further investigation of the leading practices outlined in this report;
- Measuring the topics, engagement types, organizational types, strategies (*Ho et al.*, 2015) used by programs and the effectiveness of each in achieving societal and environmental impact; and
- Examining what is unique about the contributions young people make to the societal and environmental outcomes during the course of youth service and volunteerism.

Recommendation 2:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider using evidence based frameworks that promote healthy youth development as part of the Canada Service Corps logic model. For example autonomy, relatedness, competency and purpose driven impact (*Dougherty & Clarke,* 2017a; *Khanna et al.*, 2014) is one such model that should considered.

Recommendation 3:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider ensuring that the Canada Service Corps logic model includes a focus on the positive societal and environmental outcomes, and by extension the impacts of this program on communities and organizations, as well as the impacts of on young participants.

Recommendation 4:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider including a commitment to intergenerational partnerships and the inclusion of youth voice in decision-making as central components of the Canada Service Corps logic model.



INSIGHTS

Based on the literature reviewed the following are insights for program delivery that are relevant for Employment and Social Development Canada to consider:

Insight 1:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider, given the increasing instability and financial challenges that young Canadians are facing in their day to day lives, examining the feasibility of providing financial or educational incentives to facilitate participation of underrepresented young people in youth service programs. Young people should be consulted as to which incentives would best suit their needs.

Insight 2:

Building on current successful strategies being already being implemented by partners, Employment and Social Development Canada should consider encouraging program partners to continue to innovate their recruitment strategies to ensure that young people, especially those who are less likely to get involved, are asked to get involved by a trusted mentor or peer, ideally in person, rather than expecting these young people to seek out programs.

Insight 3:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider collaborating with adjacent youth focused sectors - including those working on youth employment, in education and encouraging youth entrepreneurship - in order to provide coordinating support to young people both while they are participating in youth service and volunteerism and afterward. Other sectors that may also be relevant to collaborate with include settlement agencies, youth in care and mental health.



Insight 4:

Employment and Social Development Canada should consider prioritizing the integration of the leading practices outlined in this report that contribute to young people engaging as changemakers and active citizens in the design of the next phase of the Canada Service Corps:

- Connecting volunteer or service projects to young people's interests;
- Ensuring the work young people do meets real needs and that young people are given the opportunity to take meaningful action during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring strong community partnerships and engagement, and that young people connect with decision-makers during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring respectful intergenerational partnerships and mentorship are prioritized during a volunteer or service experience;
- Ensuring young people are meaningfully engaged in leadership and decision-making throughout their volunteer or service experience; and
- Ensuring that youth service and volunteerism programs integrate time for reflection and that these conversations are linked to systemic issues and long-term action.

8.0 CONCLUSION

As we pulled together the research for this report, it was reassuring to see how the research regarding how to best support young people's healthy youth development echoes much of the research about how to best support young people to engage as changemakers and citizens. When we give young people voice, engage them in real meaningful work that matters to them and that has an impact, prioritize community partnerships and engagement, encourage intergenerational partnerships, value young people's unique abilities and ensure young people connect their experiences to systemic issues and longer term action, we will be ensuring young people are healthier and that they are more likely to be lifelong changemakers and active citizens. By meaningfully engaging young people we are also more likely to find and implement solutions to the pressing social and environmental challenges we all face.

Youth service and volunteerism has positive benefits, but there is no doubt that improvements can be made to ensure that the next phase of the Canada Service Corps reaches all Canadian youth, and that it increases the positive impacts it has on young participants, our communities and our country. More research is needed, but many insights can be gathered from the current body of knowledge. We hope that this report offers a clear road map for both policy makers, researchers and practitioners.

> BY MEANINGFULLY ENGAGING YOUNG PEOPLE WE ARE ALSO MORE LIKELY TO FIND AND IMPLEMENT SOLUTIONS TO THE PRESSING SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CHALLENGES WE ALL FACE.

9.0 REFERENCES

4Rs Youth Movement. (n.d.). 4Rs Youth Movement. Retrieved August 23, 2018, from http://4rsyouth.ca/our-framework/

Academica Group. (2016). *Taking the pulse of work-integrated learning in Canada*. Retrieved from http://bher.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/BHER-Academica-report-full.pdf

America's Service Commissions and Innovations in Civic Participation. (2014). *Transforming communities through service: A collection of 52 of the most innovative AmeriCorps programs in the United States*. Washington, D.C., USA. Retrieved from http://www.icicp.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/ Transforming-Communities-Through-Service.pdf

Anderson, L. M., Laguarda, K. G., & Williams, I. J. (2007). *The effect of the city year experience over time: Findings from the longitudinal study of alumni. Policy Studies Associates*. Washington, D.C., USA.

Andolina, M. W., Jenkins, K., Zukin, C., & Keeter, S. (2003). Habits from home, lessons from school: influences on youth civic engagement. *Political Science and Politics*, *36*(2), 275–280. http://doi.org/10.1017/S104909650300221X

Anthony, L., Anderson, K., & Hilderman, J. (2016). *Can you hear me now? Young people and the 2015 federal election*. Toronto, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.samaracanada.com/docs/default-source/Reports/can-you-hear-me-now-by-samara-canada.pdf?sfvrsn=4

Arellano, A., Halsall, T., Forneris, T., & Gaudet, C. (2018). Results of a utilizationfocused evaluation of a Right To Play program for Indigenous youth. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *66*, 156–164. http://doi.org/10.1016/j. evalprogplan.2017.08.001

Arnett, J. J. (2004). *Emerging adulthood: The winding road from the late teens through the twenties*. New York, USA: Oxford University Press US.

Arnold, H. E., Cohen, F. G., & Warner, A. (2009). Youth and environmental action: Perspectives of young environmental leaders on their formative influences. *Journal of Environmental Education*, *40*(3), 27–36. http://doi.org/10.3200/JOEE.40.3.27-36

Aylward, E., Abu-Zahra, N., & Giles, A. (2015). Mobility and Nunavut Inuit youth: Lessons from northern youth abroad. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *18*(5), 553–568. http://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2014.992319

Bastedo, H., Dougherty, I., LeDuc, L., Rudny, B., & Sommers, T. (2012). Youth, democracy and civic engagement: The 'Apathy is Boring' surveys. *In Annual Meeting of the Canadian Political Science Association*. Edmonton, Canada.

Belfield, C. (2013). *Economic value of national service*. *The Aspen Institute Franklin Project*.

Blanchet-Cohen, N., Mack, E., & Cook, M. (2010). *Changing the landscape: Involving youth in social change*. Victoria, Canada. Retrieved from http://www. mcconnellfoundation.ca/assets/Media Library/Reports/YS_Guidebook_Web.pdf

Bourassa, L. (2018). *Lead Up youth service year one evaluation report*. Guelph, Canada.

Brooks, D. (2018, February 8). Everyone a changemaker. *The New York Times*. New York, USA. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2018/02/08/opinion/ changemaker-social-entrepreneur.html

Celio, C. I., Durlak, J., & Dymnicki, A. (2011). A meta-analysis of the impact of service-learning on students. *Journal of Experiential Education*, *34*(2), 164–181. http://doi.org/10.1177/105382591103400205

CityStudio Vancouver. (2017). *CityStudio Vancouver 2016-2017 annual report*. Vancouver, Canada. Retrieved from https://www.citystudiovancouver.com/ wp-content/uploads/2018/04/CS_AnnualReport_2017_forWeb.pdf

Claes, E., Hooghe, M., & Stolle, D. (2009). The political socialization of adolescents in Canada: Differential effects of civic education on visible minorities. *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, *42*(3), 613–636. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0008423909990400

Clarke, A., & Dougherty, I. (2010). Youth-led social entrepreneurship: Enabling social change. *International Review of Entrepreneurship*, *8*(2), 133–156.

Coletto, D. (2018). *Youthquake? Public attitudes to youth civic engagement in Canada*. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://abacusdata.ca/youthquake-public-attitudes-to-youth-civic-engagement-in-canada/

Conference Board of Canada. (2018). *The value of volunteering in Canada*. Retrieved from https://volunteer.ca/vdemo/Campaigns_DOCS/Value of Volunteering in Canada Conf Board Final Report EN.pdf

Corporation for National & Community Service. (2004). *Serving country and community: A longitudinal study of service in AmeriCorps: Early findings*. New York, USA.

Corporation for National & Community Service. (2009). Pathways to service: Learning from the potential volunteer's perspective. Washington, D.C., USA.

Corporation For National & Community Service. (2008). *Still serving: Measuring the eight-year impact of AmeriCorps on alumni*. Washington, D.C., USA.

Corrigan, P. (2007). Attracting and retaining young adults in voluntary organizations. In *Forum Report*. St. John's, Canada: Community Services Council Newfoundland and Labrador.

Damon, W., Menon, J., & Bronk, K. C. (2003). The development of purpose during adolescence. *Applied Developmental Science*, *7*(3), 119–128. Retrieved from http://itari.in/categories/higherpurpose/dev_of_purpose.pdf

Dezutter, J., Waterman, A. S., Schwartz, S. J., Luyckx, K., Beyers, W., Meca, A., ... Caraway, S. J. (2014). Meaning in life in emerging adulthood: A person-oriented approach. *Journal of Personality*, *82*(1). http://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12033

Dobbie, W., & Fryer Jr., R. G. (2015). The impact of voluntary youth service on future outcomes: Evidence from Teach For America. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, *15*(3), 1031–1065. http://doi.org/10.3386/w17402

Dougherty, I. (2011). Engaging youth in decision-making: Moving from volunteerism to active citizenship. *The Philanthropist, 24*(2), 5.

Dougherty, I., & Clarke, A. (2017a). *Developing Canadian youth as leaders and stewards of the environment*. Waterloo, Canada. Retrieved from https://lawson. ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/LF-Youth-Environment-Research-Report-December-2017.pdf

Dougherty, I., & Clarke, A. (2017b). Wired for innovation: Valuing the unique innovation abilities of emerging adults. *Emerging Adulthood*. http://doi.org/10.1177/2167696817739393

Drayton, B. (n.d.). Growing Up: *The new paradigm and the Jujitsu of introducing a new mindset*. Retrieved from https://www.ashoka.org/files/Growing Up Article FINAL%5B4%5D.pdf

Ekos Research Associates Inc. (2008). *Canadian views on volunteer service and a national youth service policy*. Retrieved from http://www.katimavik.org/sites/default/files/ekos_report_march_2008.pdf

Environics Institute. (2017). *Canadian millennials social values study*. Toronto, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.counselling.net/jnew/pdfs/Millennial Social Values Study - FINAL REPORT.pdf Epstein, R. (2010). *Teen 2.0: Saving our children and families from the torment of adolescence*. Fresno, USA: Quill Driver Books.

ESDC Innovation Lab. (2016). *Summary of Insights developed in support of a Government of Canada 'Youth Service Initiative' (YSI)*. Ottawa, Canada.

Expert Panel on Youth Employment. (2017). *13 ways to modernize youth employment in Canada: Strategies for a new world of work*. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/corporate/youth-expert-panel/report-modern-strategies-youth-employment.html

Flanagan, C. A., Bowes, J. M., Jonsson, B., Csapo, B., & Sheblanova, E. (2010). Ties that bind. *Journal of Social Issues*, *54*(3), 457–475. http://doi. org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1998.tb01230.x

Franke, S., & Human Resources and Skills Development Canada. (2010). *Current realities and emerging issues facing youth in Canada: An analytical framework for public policy research, development and evaluation*. Retrieved from http://www.youthpolicy.org/library/wp-content/uploads/library/2010_Current_ Realities_Emerging_Issues_Facing_Youth_in_Canada_Eng.pdf

Frerichs, L., Sjolie, S., Curtis, M., Peterson, M., & Huang, T. T. K. (2015). Process and outcomes from a youth-led campaign to address healthy eating in an urban high school. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, *36*(6), 433–438. http://doi. org/10.1007/s10935-015-0409-0

Froment-Prévosto, C., & Fortier, J. (2005). *Why do youth get involved in community volunteering?* Toronto, Canada.

Frumkin, P., Jastrzab, J., Vaaler, M., Greeney, A., Robert T. Grimm, J., Cramer, K., & Dietz, N. (2009). Inside national service: AmeriCorps' impact on participants. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 28*(3), 394–416. http://doi.org/10.1002/pam.20438

Gauthier, M. (2010). The inadequacy of concepts: The rise of youth interest in civic participation in Quebec. *Journal of Youth Studies*, *6*(3), 265–276. http://doi. org/10.1080/1367626032000138255

Gélineau, F. (2013). *Who participates? A closer look at the results of the national youth survey*. Retrieved from http://www.inspirerlademocratie-inspiredemocracy.ca/rsch/yth/wpa/wpa-e.pdf

Goldirova, R. (2015). *How low turnout is turned around: International best practice in voter turnout campaigns*. Retrieved from http://www.wpp.com/wpp/marketing/consumerinsights/international-best-practice-in-voter-turnout-campaigns/

Government of Canada. (2018). The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Retrieved August 10, 2018, from http://international.gc.ca/world-monde/issues_ development-enjeux_developpement/priorities-priorites/agenda-programme. aspx?lang=eng

Government of Nunavut. (n.d.). Inuit societal values. Retrieved July 27, 2018, from https://www.gov.nu.ca/information/inuit-societal-values

Grant, M. J., & Booth, A. (2009). A typology of reviews: An analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. *Health Information and Libraries Journal*, *26*(2), 91–108.

Grimm Jr, R., Dietz, N., Spring, K., Arey, K., & Foster-Bey, J. (2005). Youth *helping America: Building active citizens: The role of social institutions in teen volunteering* (Youth Helping America No. 1). Washington, D.C., USA.

Hart, D., Donnelly, T. M., Youniss, J., & Atkins, R. (2007). High school community service as a predictor of adult voting and volunteering. *American Educational Research Journal*, *44*(1), 197–219. http://doi. org/10.3102/0002831206298173

Hastings, L., Barrett, L. A., Barbuto Jr., J. E., & Bell, L. C. (2010). Developing an paradigm model of youth leadership development and community engagement: A grounded theory. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *52*(1), 19–29. http://doi. org/10.5032/jae.2011.01019

Helferty, A., & Clarke, A. (2009). Student-led campus climate change initiatives in Canada. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, *10*(3), 287–300. http://doi.org/10.1108/14676370910972594

Hientz, M., Murpy-Zommerschoe, E., Sladowski, P. S., & Stoney, C. (2010). Bridging the gap: Enriching the volunteer experience to build a better future for our communities - Findings of a pan-Canadian research study. Ottawa, Canada: Manulife Financial. Retrieved from http://volunteer.ca/content/bridging-gapreport

Hill, J. P., & Den Dulk, K. R. (2013). Religion, volunteering, and educational setting: The effect of youth schooling type on civic engagement. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, *52*(1), 179–197. http://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12011

Ho, E. (2013). *Mapping youth-led engagement: Impacts of youth-led engagement in english Canada over the last 35 years*. University of Waterloo. Retrieved from https://uwspace.uwaterloo.ca/bitstream/handle/10012/7974/Ho_Elaine.pdf;jsessionid=51468673F9B801AD47F96FAA7F55551F?sequence=1

Ho, E., Clarke, A., & Dougherty, I. (2015). Youth-led social change: Topics, engagement types, organizational types, strategies, and impacts. *Futures*, (67), 52–62. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2015.01.006

Hosang, D. (2003). Youth and community organizing today. Occasional Papers Series on Youth Organizing. New York, USA.

Jones, S. R., & Hill, K. E. (2009). Understanding patterns of commitment: Student motivation for community service involvement. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *74*(5), 516–539.

Khanna, N., MacCormack, J., Kutsyuruba, B., McCart, S., & Freeman, J. (2014). *Youth who thrive: A review of critical factors and effective programs For 12-25 year olds.* Kingston, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.youthwhothrive.ca/resources/Critical-Factors-for-Youth-Thriving-Report.pdf Lakin, R., & Mahoney, A. (2006). Empowering youth to change their world: Identifying key components of a community service program to promote positive development. *Journal of School Psychology*, *44*(6), 513–531. http://doi. org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.06.001

Loewen, P. J. (2013). *Generational change: Looking at declining youth voter turnout over time*. Retrieved from http://www.inspirerlademocratie-inspiredemocracy.ca/rsch/yth/gnchng/pdf/gn_e.pdf

Lopez, M. H., & Marcelo, K. (2007). Volunteering among young people. Medford, USA: The Center for Information & Research on Civic Learning & Engagement.

Mattero, M., & Campbell-Patton, C. (2009). *Measuring the impact of youth voluntary service programs summary and conclusions of the international experts' meeting*. Retrieved from https://www.issuelab.org/resource/measuring-the-impact-of-youth-voluntary-service-programs.html

Matthew, C. (2009). Nurturing our garden: The voices of urban aboriginal youth on engagement and participation in decision making. *Canadian Issues*, 53–59.

McAdam, D., & Brandt, C. (2009). Assessing the effects of voluntary youth service: The case of Teach for America. *Social Forces*, *88*(2), 945–969.

McBride, A. M., Benítez, C., & Sherraden, M. (2003). *The forms and nature of civic service: A global assessment*. St. Louis, USA. Retrieved from https://csd. wustl.edu/Publications/Documents/Global_Assessment_Report.pdf

Mclean, L. R., Bergen, J. K., Truong-White, H., Rottmann, J., & Glithero, L. (2017). Far from apathetic: Canadian youth identify the supports they need to speak about and act on issues. *Citizenship Teaching & Learning*, *12*(1), 91–108. http://doi.org/10.1386/ctl.12.1.91

McLellan, J. A., & Youniss, J. (2003). Two systems of youth service: Determinants of voluntary and required youth community service. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 32*(1), 47–58. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021032407300

Ménard, M. (2010). Youth civic engagement. Parliamentary Information and Research Service. Ottawa, Canada.

Metz, E., & Youniss, J. (2003). A demonstration that school-based required service does not deter-but heightens-volunteerism. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, *36*(2), 281–286.

Michelson, M. R. (2005). Meeting the challenge of Latino voter mobilization. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*.

Monchalin, R., Flicker, S., Wilson, C., Prentice, T., Oliver, V., Jackson, R., ... Network, N. Y. S. H. (2016). "When you follow your heart, you provide that path for others": Indigenous models of youth leadership in HIV prevention. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, *11*(1), 135. http://doi.org/10.18357/ ijih111201616012 Moorfoot, N., Leung, R., Toumbourou, J., & F. Catalano, R. (2015). The longitudinal effects of adolescent volunteering on secondary school completion and adult volunteering. *International Journal of Developmental Sciences*, *1*, 1–10. http://doi.org/10.3233/DEV-140148

Myrah, K. K. (2009). Using a service learning approach to teach students about social entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurial Practice Review*, *1*(1), 4–23.

National Conference on Citizenship. (2011). *Civic health and unemployment: Can engagement strengthen the economy?* Washington, D.C., USA.

National Conference on Citizenship. (2012). *Civic health and unemployment II: The case builds*.

O'Rourke, D. (2012). *#GenerationFlux: Understanding the seismic shifts that are shaking Canada's youth*. Retrieved from http://www.vitalsignscanada.ca/files/vitalyouth/2012_VitalYouth Research Summary.pdf

Ontario Public Service. (2016). *21st century competencies*. Retrieved from http:// www.edugains.ca/resources21CL/ About21stCentury/21CL_21stCenturyCompetencies.pdf

Opportunity Nation. (2014). *Connecting youth and strengthening communities: The data behind civic engagement and economic opportunity.* Boston, USA.

Perkins, J. M. (2008). *Student political advocacy: Professors, parents and Volunteer Service as Key Social Forces*. Macalester College.

Planty, M., Bozick, R., & Regnier, M. (2006). Helping because you have to or helping because you want to? Sustaining participation in service work from adolescence through young adulthood. *Youth & Society*, *38*(2), 177–202. http://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X06287961

Pleyers, G. (2004). Des black block aux alter-activistes: Pôles et formes d'engagement des jeunes altermondialistes. *Lien Social et Politiques, 51*, 123–134. http://doi.org/10.7202/008875ar

Pluim, G. W. J., & Jorgenson, S. R. (2012). A reflection on the broader, systemic impacts of youth volunteer abroad programmes: A Canadian perspective. *Intercultural Education*, *23*(1), 25–38. http://doi.org/10.1080/14675986.2012.66 4751

Powell, S., & Bratovic, E. (2007). *The impact of long-term youth voluntary service in Europe: A review of published and unpublished research studies*. Brussels, Belguim. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/262689874_The_impact_of_long-term_youth_voluntary_service_ in_Europe_a_review_of_published_and_unpublished_research_studies

Public Policy Forum. (2012). Building youth civic engagement through collaboration: Report of the roundtable on youth voter engagement. In *Roundtable on Youth Voter Engagement*. Ottawa, Canada: Public Policy Forum.

Quebec Community Groups Network. (2009). *Creating spaces for young Quebecers: Strategic orientations for english-speaking youth in Quebec.* Montreal, Canada.

Quintelier, E. (2008). Who is politically active: The athlete, the scout member or the environmental activist?: Young people, voluntary engagement and political participation. *Acta Sociologica*, *51*(4), 355–370. http://doi. org/10.1177/0001699308097378

R.A. Malatest & Associates Ltd. (2006). *Social and economic impact study of the Katimavik program*. Ottawa, Canada.

Ramey, H. L., Lawford, H. L., & Rose-Krasnor, L. (2017). Doing for others: Youth's contributing behaviors and psychological engagement in youth-adult partnerships. *Journal of Adolescence*, *55*, 129–138. http://doi.org/10.1016/j. adolescence.2017.01.001

René, N. (2011). *Cap sur les jeunes bénévoles: Tracez votre chemin*. Montreal, Canada.

Riemer, M., Lynes, J., & Hickman, G. (2013). A model for developing and assessing youth-based environmental engagement programmes. *Environmental Education Research*, *20*(4), 552–574. http://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2013.812 721

Roehlkepartain, E. C. (2007a). *Benefits of community-based service-learning*. Scotts Valley, USA. Retrieved from https://www.search-institute.org/ downloadable/2007-Roehlkepartain-CBO-Benefits-SL-NSLC.pdf

Roehlkepartain, E. C. (2007b). *Service-learning with disadvantaged youth*. Scotts Valley, USA. Retrieved from https://www.search-institute.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/12/2007-Roehlkepartain-Disadvantaged-SL-NSLC.pdf

Rudny, B., Dougherty, I., Blais, A., Dumitrescu, D., & Loewen, P. (2010). Youth Engagement and Mobilization in the 2010 Toronto Municipal Election. Elections Canada.

Savan, B., Morgan, A. J., & Gore, C. (2003). Volunteer environmental monitoring and the role of the universities: The case of Citizens' Environment Watch. *Environmental Management*, *31*(5), 561–568. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2897-y

Seider, S., Rabinowicz, S., & Gillmor, S. (2012). Differential outcomes for American college students engaged in community service-learning involving youth and adults. *Journal of Experiential Education*, *35*(3), 447–463. http://doi. org/10.1177/105382591203500305

Shen, V. (2005). *Involve youth 2: A guide to meaningful youth engagement*. Toronto, Canada.

Skinner, A., & French, C. (2012). *Youth-led community organizing strategies & tools*. Toronto, Canada. Retrieved from http://laidlawfdn.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Laidlaw-Learning-Series-Strategies-Tools_WEB.pdf

Skinner, A., Speilman, C., & Caitlin, F. (2013). *Youth-led community organizing: Impacts & challenges*. Toronto, Canada. Retrieved from http://laidlawfdn.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Impacts-web.pdf

Spano, S. (2003). Best practices for youth development programs. Ithaca, USA.

Spring, K., Dietz, N., & Grimm, R. J. (2007). Youth helping America: Leveling the path to participation: Volunteering and civic engagement among youth from disadvantaged circumstances. Corporation for National and Community Service.

Statistics Canada. (2018). *A portrait of Canadian youth*. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-631-x/11-631-x2018001-eng.pdf

Stauch, J., & Cornelisse, D. (2016). *Canada next: Learning for youth leadership*. Calgary, Canada. Retrieved from http://nylis.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/ CanadaNext-FullReport_final.pdf

Steinberg, L. (2014). *Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence*. New York, USA: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Publishing Company.

Sutherland, D., Doerkson, M., Hanslip, T., Roberts, J., Stewart, S., Sagnes, E., & Friesen-Storz, T. (2006). *Youth volunteerism: Measuring the benefits of community service learning programs report.* Toronto, Canada.

Tanner, J. L., & Arnett, J. J. (2009). The emergence of "emerging adulthood": The new life stage between adolescence and young adulthood. In A. Furlong (Ed.), *Handbook of Youth and Young Adulthood: New perspectives and agendas* (pp. 39–45). London, UK: Routledge: Taylor & Francis Group.

Thibault, A., Albertus, P., & Fortier, J. (2007). *Rendre compte et soutenir l'action bénévole des jeunes: Tracer la voie pour une participation des jeunes à la vie politique et civique*. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from https://oraprdnt.uqtr. uquebec.ca/pls/public/docs/GSC1878/F2147203025_Thibault__Albertus_et_Fortier_2007.pdf

Thomas, R. J., & Mcfarland, D. A. (2010). *Joining young, voting young: The effects of youth voluntary associations on early adult voting* (No. 73). Medford, USA.

Tiessen, R., & Heron, B. (2012). Volunteering in the developing world: The perceived impacts of Canadian youth. *Development in Practice*, *22*(1), 44–56. http://doi.org/10.1080/09614524.2012.630982

Wagner, T. (2012). *Creating innovators: The making of young people who will change the world*. New York, USA: Scribner.

Walsh, L., & Black, R. (2015). *Youth volunteering in Australia: An evidence review*. Braddon, Australia.

We Charity. (n.d.). Our learning framework. Retrieved August 9, 2018, from https://www.we.org/we-schools/program/learning-framework/

Zanchetta, M., Schwind, J., Aksenchuk, K., Gorospe, F. F., & Santiago, L. (2013). An international internship on social development led by Canadian nursing students: Empowering learning. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*(7), 757–764. http:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.04.019

Zeldin, S. (2004). Youth as agents of adult and community development: Mapping the processes and outcomes of youth engaged in organizational governance. *Applied Developmental Science*, *8*(2), 75–90. http://doi.org/10.1207/s1532480xads0802_2

PHOTO CREDITS

Envato Elements	Cover
Dimitri Houtteman (Unsplash)	4
Linkedin Sales Navigator (Unsplash)	5
Phil Coffman (Unsplash)	6
Envato Elements	8
Envato Elements	10
University of Waterloo Library. Special Collections & Archives. Waterloo Photos	12
Nima Latifpour. Photo of Youth & Innovation Project Youth Advisory Council members. July 2019	13
Christina Wocintechchat (Unsplash)	14
Matthew Henry (Burst)	15
Nima Latifpour. Photo of Youth & Innovation Project Youth Advisory Council members. July 2019	17
Austin Kehmeier (Unsplash)	18
University of Waterloo Library. Special Collections & Archives. Waterloo Photos	19
Christina Wocintechchat (Unsplash)	20
Ian Scargill (Unsplash)	21
Nicolas J Leclercq (Unsplash)	23
Envato Elements	24
Envato Elements	25
Annie Spratt (Unsplash)	26
Envato Elements	27
Wonderlane (Unsplash)	28
Richard Yim	29
Makers (Unsplash)	30
Envato Elements	31
YMCA Academy via Facebook	32
Envato Elements	35

Christina Wocintechchat (Unsplash)	36
Envato Elements	37
Charles Deloye (Unsplash)	38
Envato Elements	39
Violet Manuel/The Tyee	40
George Coletrain (Unsplash)	41
Max Bender (Unsplash)	42
Envato Elements	43
Envato Elements	44
Right To Play via Facebook	45
Linkedin Sales Navigator (Unsplash)	46
Envato Elements	47
Envato Elements	48
Envato Elements	49
Shelby Lisk/The Globe and Mail	50
Matthew Henry (Burst)	51
Yogendra Singh (Unsplash)	52
Alexis Brown (Unsplash)	53
Indigenous Climate Action via Facebook	54
Envato Elements	55
Outside Looking In/The Globe and Mail	56
Melissa Tait/The Globe and Mail	57
Linkedin Sales Navigator (Unsplash)	58
Autumn Peltier UN Photo/Manuel Elias/The Associated Press	59
Chuttersnap (Unsplash)	60
Envato Elements	61
Envato Elements	62

